
City Council Meeting Agenda 
November 13, 2018 

Page 1 of 2 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Tuesday, November 13, 2018 - 5:30 p.m. 
Wright Room, Harris Community Center 

401 N. Alexander, Belton, Texas 

Pledge of Allegiance. The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag will be led by Director of 
Public Works Angellia Points. 

Texas Pledge. The Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas Flag will be led by 
Councilmember Wayne Carpenter. 

“Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee Texas, one state under 
God, one and indivisible.” 

Invocation. The Invocation will be given by Bryan Davis, First Responders Fellowship. 

1. Call to Order.

2. Public Comments.

Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may register to do
so prior to this meeting and speak during this item. Forms are located on the
table outside of the south side entry to the meeting room. Please state your
name and address for the record, and limit your comments to three minutes.
Also, please understand that while the Council appreciates hearing your
comments, State law (Texas Gov’t Code §551.042) prohibits them from: (1)
engaging in discussion other than providing a statement of specific factual
information or reciting existing City policy, and (2) taking action other than
directing Staff to place the matter on a future agenda.

3. Presentation of lifesaving awards to John Bingham and Michael Cummins.

4. Recognitions:



City Council Meeting Agenda 
November 13, 2018 

Page 2 of 2 
 
 

A. Recognize the Finance Department for receipt of the Certificate of 
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for Fiscal Year 2017. 
 

B. Recognize City Manager Sam Listi for receiving his 40 year service award 
from ICMA. 

 
Consent Agenda 
 
Items 5-6 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may 
be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be 
removed from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any 
Councilmember, and it will be considered separately. 
 
5. Consider minutes of the October 23, 2018, City Council meeting. 

 
6. Consider appointment to the Belton Economic Development Corporation Board of 

Directors.  
 
Regular Agenda 
 
7. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance amending Chapter 22, Article VI, 

Sections 22-106 through 22-108 of the Code of Ordinances regarding traffic 
schedules and speed limit regulations. 
 

8. Consider approval and recordation of non-annexation Development Agreements for 
properties owned by the Dickson Family. 

 
9. Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a change order for Phase I of the 

Temple-Belton Wastewater Treatment Plant Expansion Project. 
 
10. Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a contract with Barsh Company 

for construction of the Chisholm Trail Hike and Bike Trail, and any change orders 
associated with the contract, not to exceed the amount authorized under state law. 

 
11. Consider authorizing the BEDC Executive Director to execute a contract for the sale 

of 1.0 acre in the Belton Business Park to Birdcreek Holdings, LLC. 
 
Work Session 
 
12. Receive a presentation and discuss a policy establishing provisions for joint 

vehicular access easements (JVAE). 
 
 
 
The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at any time regarding any 
issue on this agenda for which it is legally permissible. 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
November 13, 2018 

Page 1 of 4 
 
 

 
OFFICE OF THE CITY MANAGER 
 

City Council Meeting Agenda 
Tuesday, November 13, 2018 - 5:30 p.m. 
Wright Room, Harris Community Center 

401 N. Alexander, Belton, Texas 
 
 
Pledge of Allegiance. The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag will be led by Director of 
Public Works Angellia Points. 
 
Texas Pledge. The Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas Flag will be led by 
Councilmember Wayne Carpenter. 
 

“Honor the Texas flag; I pledge allegiance to thee Texas, one state under 
God, one and indivisible.” 

 
Invocation. The Invocation will be given by Bryan Davis, First Responders Fellowship. 
 
 
1. Call to Order. 

 
2. Public Comments. 
 

Citizens who desire to address the Council on any matter may register to do 
so prior to this meeting and speak during this item. Forms are located on the 
table outside of the south side entry to the meeting room. Please state your 
name and address for the record, and limit your comments to three minutes. 
Also, please understand that while the Council appreciates hearing your 
comments, State law (Texas Gov’t Code §551.042) prohibits them from: (1) 
engaging in discussion other than providing a statement of specific factual 
information or reciting existing City policy, and (2) taking action other than 
directing Staff to place the matter on a future agenda. 
 

3. Presentation of lifesaving awards to John Bingham and Michael Cummins. 
 
On Sunday, September 30, 2018, Belton Police and Fire units responded to 
Schoepf’s BBQ in reference to a man choking and unconscious. When Sgt. Richard 
Kusak arrived, he found John Bingham and Michael Cummins assisting the victim, 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
November 13, 2018 

Page 2 of 4 
 
 

Perry Brown. They performed the Heimlich maneuver and a finger sweep to remove 
food so he could breathe. Sgt. Kusak then rolled him on his side and performed 
back slaps which dislodged the rest of the food. Belton medics arrived and assisted 
in providing medical attention to Mr. Brown. If it were not for the actions of everyday 
heroes like John Bingham and Michael Cummins, Mr. Brown would most likely not 
be with us today. The Belton Police Department will be presenting Lifesaving 
Medals to Mr. Bingham and Mr. Cummins.  
 

4. Recognitions: 
 
A. Recognize the Finance Department for receipt of the Certificate of 

Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting for Fiscal Year 2017. 
 
For the 32nd consecutive year, the City of Belton’s Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report (CAFR) has received the Government Finance Officers 
Association Certificate of Achievement Award.  This award is for Financial 
Reporting for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2017. It is recognition of 
distinction and honor for the Belton City Council, management, and staff that the 
City’s CAFR meets the national standards of excellence for reporting the City’s 
finances. Special thanks go to Director of Finance Brandon Bozon, Assistant 
Director of Finance Susan Allamon, and the rest of the team in the Finance 
Department. 
 

B. Recognize City Manager Sam Listi for receiving his 40 year service award 
from ICMA. 

 
City Manager Sam Listi was recently recognized by the International City 
Management Association for forty years of service in City government manage-
ment. We congratulate Mr. Listi on this recognition, and thank him for his 17 
years of service to the City of Belton. We, as Staff, feel very fortunate to work 
alongside him. 

 
Consent Agenda 
 
Items 5-6 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and may 
be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item may be 
removed from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any 
Councilmember, and it will be considered separately. 
 
5. Consider minutes of the October 23, 2018, City Council meeting. 
 

A copy of the minutes is attached. Recommend approval. 
 
6. Consider appointment to the Belton Economic Development Corporation 

Board of Directors.  
 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
November 13, 2018 

Page 3 of 4 
 
 

See Staff Report from City Clerk Amy Casey. Recommend reappointment of Joe 
Shepperd to the BEDC Board for another three year term. 

 
Regular Agenda 
 
7. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance amending Chapter 22, Article 

VI, Sections 22-106 through 22-108 of the Code of Ordinances regarding traffic 
schedules and speed limit regulations. 
 
See Staff Report from Director of Public Works Angellia Points. Recommend 
approval of the ordinance as presented.  
 

8. Consider approval and recordation of non-annexation Development 
Agreements for properties owned by the Dickson Family. 

 
See Staff Report from Director of Public Works Angellia Points. Recommend 
approval and recordation as presented.  

 
9. Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a change order for Phase I 

of the Temple-Belton Wastewater Treatment Plant Expansion Project. 
 

See Staff Report from Director of Public Works Angellia Points. Recommend 
approval of Change Order #3 as presented.  

 
10. Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a contract with Barsh 

Company for construction of the Chisholm Trail Hike and Bike Trail, and any 
change orders associated with the contract, not to exceed the amount 
authorized under state law. 

 
See Staff Report from Director of Public Works Angellia Points. Recommend 
approval of the construction contract as presented.  

 
11. Consider authorizing the BEDC Executive Director to execute a contract for 

the sale of 1.0 acre in the Belton Business Park to Birdcreek Holdings, LLC. 
 

See Staff Report from BEDC Executive Director Cynthia Hernandez. Recommend 
authorizing execution of the contract as presented.  

 
Work Session 
 
12. Receive a presentation and discuss a policy establishing provisions for joint 

vehicular access easements (JVAE). 
 

See Staff Report from Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell. At meetings on July 17th 
and August 21st, the Planning and Zoning Commission recommended approval of a 



City Council Meeting Agenda 
November 13, 2018 

Page 4 of 4 
 
 

joint vehicular access easement policy. Staff is presenting the draft policy for 
discussion. 

 
 
The City Council reserves the right to adjourn into Executive Session at any time regarding any 
issue on this agenda for which it is legally permissible. 



Government Finance Office.rs Association 
203 North LaSall Street, Suite 2700 
Chicago, Ill inois 6060 1-121 0 
312.977 .9700 fax: 312 .977.4806 

September 12, 2018 

Sam A. Listi 
City Manager 
City of Belton 
PO Box 120 
Belton, TX 76513-0120 

Dear Mr. Listi : 

We are pleased to notify you that your comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the 
fiscal year ended 2017 qualifies for GFOA's Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in 
Financial Reporting. The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in 
governmental accounting and financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant 
accomplishment by a government and its management. 

When a Certificate of Achievement is awarded to a government, an Award of Financial Reporting 
Achievement (AFRA) is also presented to the individual(s) or department designated by the 
government as primarily responsible for its having earned the Certificate. This award has been 
sent to the submitter as designated on the application. 

We hope that you will arrange for a formal presentation of the Certificate and Award of Financial 
Reporting Achievement, and that appropriate publicity will be given to this notable achievement. 
A sample news release is enclosed to assist with this effort. 

We hope that your example will encourage other government officials in their efforts to achieve 
and maintain an appropriate standard of excellence in financial reporting. 

Sincerely, 

Michele Mark Levine 
Director, Technical Services Center 



® 

GOVERNMENT FINANCE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION 

NEWS RELEASE 

FOR IMMEDIATE RELEASE 

09/12/20 18 For more information contact: 
Michele Mark Levine, Director/TSC 
Phone: (312) 977-9700 
Fax: (312) 977-4806 
E-mail: mlevine@gfoa.org 

(Chicago, Illinois)--The Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting has been awarded 
to City of Belton by Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) 
for its comprehensi e annual financial report (CAFR). The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form 
of recognition in the area of governmental accounting and financial reporting, and its attainment represents 
a significant accomplishment by a government and its management. 

An Award of Financial Repo11ing Achievement has been awarded to the individual(s) or department 
designated by the government as primarily responsible for preparing the award-winning CAFR. 

The CAFR has been judged by an impartial panel to meet the high standards of the program, which includes 
demonstrating a constructive "spirit of full disclosure" to clearly communicate its financial story and 
motivate potential users and user groups to read the CA.FR. 

Government Finance Officers Association is a major professional association servicing the needs of nearly 
19,000 appointed and elected local, state, and provincial-level government officials and other finance 
practitioners. It provides top quality publications, training programs. services, and products designed to 
enhance the skills and performance of those responsible for government finance policy and management. 
The association is headquartered in Chicago, Illinois, with offices in Washington, D. C. 

203 NORTH LASALLE STREET, SUITE 2700, CHICAGO, ILLINOIS 60601 - 1210 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – 5:30 P.M. 

 
The Belton City Council met in regular session in the Wright Room at the Harris 
Community Center with the following members present: Mayor Marion Grayson, Mayor 
Pro Tem Craig Pearson and Councilmembers Dan Kirkley, Guy O’Banion, John R. 
Holmes, Sr. and Wayne Carpenter. Councilmember David K. Leigh was absent. Staff 
present included Sam Listi, Gene Ellis, John Messer, Amy Casey, Brandon Bozon, 
Chris Brown, Matt Bates, Paul Romer, Bob van Til, Bruce Pritchard, Kim Kroll, Judy 
Garrett, Angellia Points, Charlotte Walker, Cheryl Maxwell, Cynthia Hernandez, Jen 
Wesley, Larry Berg, Daniel Aguirre, Wes Gilbreath and Kelly Atkinson. 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance to the U.S. Flag was led by Director of Planning Cheryl 
Maxwell, the Pledge of Allegiance to the Texas Flag was led by Councilmember John R. 
Holmes, Sr., and the Invocation was given by Pat Munoz, Pastor to Hispanics at First 
Baptist Church of Belton. 
 
1. Call to order. Mayor Marion Grayson called the meeting to order at 5:31 p.m. She 

announced that Item 3 would be moved ahead of Item 2 in order to accommodate 
one of the award recipients. 

 
3. Presentation of National Night Out Awards: 
 

A. Best Block Party (Residential): Liberty Valley Neighborhood, Host: 
Raydean Golding  

B. Best Block Party (Commercial): Grand Avenue Theatre, Host: Daniel 
Bucher  

C. Rookie of the Year: NNO Kick-Off Party in Yettie Polk Park, Host: Brian 
Kinard 

D. Best Theme/Activities: Housing Authority, Host: Sharon Lyons 
 
Assistant City Manager/Chief of Police Gene Ellis, assisted by Deputy Chiefs Jen 
Wesley and Larry Berg, presented certificates and challenge coins to several 
National Night Out award recipients. Chief Ellis said that National Night Out 2018 
brought neighbors together at 17 block parties in Belton as community members 
interacted with police, fire, City officials, and each other in a fun and engaging 
manner.  

 
2. Public Comments.  
 

Charles Haight, 211 Camino Principal: Mr. Haight outlined his background which 
includes a variety of jobs such as Highway Patrol Sargent, insurance agent and 
volunteer firefighter/medic, and he added that he is a Certified Public Manager. He 
has recently become aware of many things including the budget, the Fire 
Department and a few other items. He cautioned the Council to really look at what 
they are doing when it comes to the firefighters since it deals with the safety of the 
citizens.  
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 2 
 

  

David Holloway, President of the Belton Professional Firefighters Association: Mr. 
Holloway said he is the face behind the social media posts. He said that the 
association sent the City Council a letter in March in an attempt to make them aware 
of retention problems in the Fire Department. He said that turnover is a problem in a 
number of City departments including the Police Department. It is something that 
needs to be addressed City-wide. He asked the Council to continue looking into the 
issue and ask questions of City employees. He thanked the Firefighters who have 
remained at the City for their hard work and long hours in keeping the department 
running. He also thanked the Firefighters who have left City employment for their 
support on this issue. 

 
4. Recognize: 
 

a. KPA Engineers, along with the Public Works and Planning Departments, for 
receiving a Central Texas Chapter of APA 2018 Transportation Planning 
Award for Belton’s Roundabout. 

 
City Manager Sam Listi said the Central Texas Chapter of the American Planning 
Association recently recognized Mack Parker of KPA Engineers, as well as Staff 
from the Public Works and Planning Departments, with a 2018 Transportation 
Planning Award for the Belton Roundabout project. Mayor Grayson said the 
citizens were initially unsure of the roundabout, but now it has been well 
received. She added that there are at least two new roundabouts being 
constructed in Bell County because of the success of Belton’s roundabout. 

 
b. IT and Police Departments for receiving the Texas Municipal League’s 

Municipal Excellence Award in Management Innovations for the Prosecutor 
Portal. 

 
City Manager Sam Listi explained that at the recent Texas Municipal League’s 
Annual Conference, the City of Belton received a Municipal Excellence Award in 
Management Innovations for the Prosecutor Portal project. The IT Department, 
as well as the Police Department, are to be commended for their innovative work 
on this project. He recognized Director of IT Chris Brown, as well as Chief Gene 
Ellis and Scott Rickert from the Police Department. 

 
Consent Agenda 
 
Items 5-6 under this section are considered to be routine by the City Council and 
may be enacted by one motion. If discussion is desired by the Council, any item 
may be removed from the Consent Agenda prior to voting, at the request of any 
Councilmember, and it will be considered separately. 

 
5. Consider minutes of September 25, 2018, City Council Meeting. 

 
6. Consider a resolution authorizing an agreement with the City of Temple 

allowing the City of Belton to assume plat approval authority for the final plat 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 3 
 

  

of Restin’ Easy Cox Ranch subdivision, located in both Belton and Temple 
ETJs. 
 
Councilmember Wayne Carpenter requested that Item #6 be pulled from the 
Consent Agenda for discussion. 
 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Holmes and a second by Councilmember Kirkley, 
Item #5 was unanimously approved by a vote of 6-0. 
 
Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell explained that State law says when a property 
is located in multiple ETJs, plat authority lies with the more populous city. Although 
the majority of this development is within Belton ETJ, Temple is responsible for plat 
authority. She explained that the property owner requested that Temple allow Belton 
to be the final authority for the plat approval. The Temple City Council authorized 
this action through a resolution, and the City of Belton must accept the authority from 
Temple, which is proposed by the resolution under consideration in this item. 
 
Councilmember Carpenter pointed out that the overlapping Temple ETJ on the west 
side of Lake Belton will continue to be an issue as Belton grows until the cities come 
to some resolution. 
 
 Upon a motion by Councilmember Carpenter, and a second by Councilmember 
Holmes, Item #6, including the following captioned resolution, was unanimously 
approved by a vote of 6-0. 

  
RESOLUTION NO. 2018-23-R 

 
RESOLUTION BY THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, AUTHORIZING AN 
AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF TEMPLE, TEXAS, PURSUANT TO TEXAS 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 212.007, TO DELEGATE PLAT 
APPROVAL AUTHORITY TO THE CITY OF BELTON FOR THE FINAL PLAT OF 
RESTIN’ EASY COX RANCH SUBDIVISION; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN 
MEETINGS CLAUSE.  

 
Planning and Zoning 
 
7. Consider a final plat of Jan Addition Replat, 5.625 acres, comprising a 3.228 

acre tract and a replat of Lot 1, Block 1, Jan Addition, located on the north side 
of E. Amity Road, west of Heritage Lane, in Belton’s ETJ. 
 
Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell explained that this property is a one lot 
subdivision proposed for residential development with frontage on East Amity Road. 
The ETJ line between the City of Belton and the Village of Salado bisects this 
property near the northwest corner of this plat. A portion of this property (2.397 
acres) was platted as Jan Addition in October 2017 and was in Salado’s ETJ. An 
additional 3.228 acres is being added which crosses into Belton’s ETJ, for a total of 
5.625 acres. Texas Local Government Code Section 212.007 states that for a tract 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 4 
 

  

of land located in the ETJ of more than one municipality, the authority responsible 
for approving a plat is the authority in the municipality with the largest population. 
Therefore, the City of Belton is the approving authority for this plat. Since the 
majority of the plat area lies within the Village of Salado ETJ, Staff has coordinated 
with them in this review. 
 
Mrs. Maxwell presented a summary of the subdivision ordinance requirements as 
they apply to this subdivision plat. 
 
Water: This property is located within Belton’s water CCN; however, the nearest 
water line is approximately 1.5 miles away on the west side of I-35. There are 
currently no options for this property to connect to a public water supply system. A 
water well registered with the Clearwater Underground Water Conservation District 
(CUWCD) is currently located on site. This lot meets the minimum two acres 
required for a water well. 
 
There is no water infrastructure in this vicinity to support fire hydrants and provide 
fire protection. In the event of a fire, water tanker trucks will be needed to suppress 
the fire. Therefore, a variance for the provision of fire hydrants is requested, and 
supported by Staff. 
 
Sewer: No sanitary sewer is available to serve this subdivision. A septic system is 
proposed, subject to approval by the Bell County Public Health District. 
 
Drainage: Since this property lies in Belton’s ETJ, the City is not responsible for 
drainage and will defer to Bell County and their requirements.  
 
Streets: E. Amity Road is a major collector street on the City’s Thoroughfare Plan. 
This requires a minimum ROW of 80’. There is currently approximately 52’ of ROW 
in this vicinity. The developer is responsible for dedicating half of the remaining 
ROW needed to achieve the 80’. When a portion of this property was platted in 
2017, only 60’ ROW was needed and the developer dedicated half (approximately 
4’) of the remaining 8’ of ROW needed to achieve this. Although 80’ is desirable to 
accommodate future widening and bar ditches for drainage needs, Staff 
recommends we defer to the Village of Salado and County requirements since this 
portion of the roadway is in Salado’s ETJ. Salado is requesting 60’ ROW; therefore, 
this plat dedicates approximately 4’ of ROW along the portion that is being newly 
platted to match the ROW dedication that occurred with the previous plat. 
 
Regarding perimeter street improvements, the Subdivision Ordinance requires the 
developer to contribute one-half the total cost of paving with curb and gutter for the 
portion of roadway adjacent to this plat, in this case, E. Amity Road. The existing 
pavement width is 21’. A variance to this requirement is requested. The Subdivision 
Ordinance allows waiver of this requirement for single family developments not 
exceeding three lots; therefore, Staff supports the requested variance. 
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 5 
 

  

Sidewalks: The Subdivision Ordinance requires the developer to construct and 
install a 5-foot wide sidewalk along the subdivision side of collector streets, which 
would apply to E. Amity Road. This requirement is waived since the plat is in the ETJ 
area, and no entities have assumed responsibility for maintenance.  
 
Parkland Dedication/Fee: Residential subdivisions are required to dedicate suitable 
lands for the purpose of parkland and/or make a financial contribution for the 
acquisition and development of such parkland. One acre for each 100 new dwelling 
units projected is required. With only one lot, the dedication would be 0.01 acre, 
which is considerably short of the minimum two acres desired for dedication. The fee 
in lieu of dedication is $200/lot which would be $200 for this subdivision. A variance 
to the parkland dedication/fee is requested. Staff concurs with the variance request 
since there are no plans to develop a public park in this vicinity at this time, and this 
single lot is quite large with ample open space available to satisfy the needs of the 
lot owner.  
 
Conclusion: Since this proposed subdivision is located in Belton’s ETJ, the Bell 
County Engineer’s Office has reviewed this plat and provided comments which have 
been addressed. After Council action, this plat will be taken to Bell County 
Commissioners Court for approval.   
 
Mrs. Maxwell explained that the Planning and Zoning Commission met on October 
16, 2018, and unanimously recommended approval of this final plat, subject to the 
conditions below, and Staff concurs with their recommendation: 
 
1. Approval of variance to water pressure requirement for fire protection;  
2. Approval of variance to perimeter street improvements and sidewalk requirement 

for E. Amity Road; and 
3. Approval of variance to the parkland dedication/fee requirement. 
 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Holmes, and a second by Councilmember 
O’Banion, Item #7 was unanimously approved by a vote of 6-0. 
 

8. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance amending several sections of 
the Zoning Ordinance as it relates to Accessory Dwelling Units (ADU).  
 
Planner Kelly Atkinson explained that Staff has received several inquiries regarding 
the construction of an accessory dwelling unit (ADU) for incidental use to, and 
located on the same lot as, a main dwelling unit. Currently, the zoning ordinance is 
restrictive on the opportunity for accessory dwelling units, and some of the language 
of the ordinance is outdated or not applicable.  
 
Mrs. Atkinson said the general use of accessory buildings and accessory dwelling 
units is currently defined and allowed in certain zoning districts. However, revisions 
to the definitions for such uses have been evaluated and rewritten to reflect the 
intent of the revised ordinance. She said that the zoning ordinance allows ADUs 
(also referenced as servant’s quarters) in Agricultural and Residential Estates 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 6 
 

  

Districts. Garage apartments are defined but are not listed as a permitted use 
anywhere in any zoning district. 
 
Mayor Grayson asked what the difference was between an attached ADU and an 
addition to a house. Mrs. Atkinson explained that an attached ADU will typically 
include a kitchen, bathroom and living quarters. 
 
Atkinson said that Staff has reviewed the zoning standards of several cities and 
found that zoning districts and other related requirements vary widely between the 
various locations. Overall, every location addressed similar zoning elements and 
construction requirements. She discussed the benefits of allowing ADUs. She also 
reviewed the changes to the zoning ordinance that are proposed by Staff and that 
are included in the ordinance proposed for adoption (see Exhibit “A”). 
 
Mayor Grayson said these ADUs can be used as rental property including temporary 
use similar to Airbnb which would be subject to hotel/motel taxes. She asked how 
that situation will be monitored to ensure that the appropriate taxes are paid. Mrs. 
Atkinson said that most cities she researched started with putting into place a policy 
on ADUs, and then they followed up with ordinances to regulate the Airbnb type 
situations through licensing or permitting. 
 
Councilmember Carpenter asked if any of the cities researched have issues with tiny 
houses moving in. Mrs. Atkinson said she didn’t remember any of the research 
addressing tiny houses because they are typically placed on single lots specifically 
zoned for tiny houses. 
 
Councilmember Holmes asked if the ADU has to be located directly behind the main 
dwelling unit. Mrs. Atkinson explained that it doesn’t not have to be directly behind 
the main dwelling unit as long as it conforms to the setback requirements and is 
located behind the main dwelling unit. Mr. Holmes asked how the City will deal with 
existing nonconforming units. Mrs. Atkinson said it could be handled through Code 
Enforcement. City Manager Listi said if there is a request for an additional permit, it 
would give Staff the opportunity to address the nonconformance at that time. He said 
there have been several requests for ADUs, and recommended approving the 
ordinance allowing for review by the Planning and Zoning Commission and the City 
Council through the SUP process.  
 
Councilmember Holmes asked if someone is remodeling a garage and adding an 
apartment to it, is the 800 square feet or 75% of square footage of the home limited 
to the remodel or to the dwelling itself? Mrs. Atkinson explained that is the purpose 
of the SUP, to allow flexibility to address situations like the one described. Mr. 
Holmes said he can see the request not being approved because it is more than the 
maximum square footage allowed. Mr. Listi clarified, “Your concern is that the 800 
square feet is not enough?” Mr. Holmes said putting an apartment over a 3-car 
garage is a lot of square footage. 
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 7 
 

  

Councilmember O’Banion said the City is not trying to discourage these types of 
structures, but needs to make sure, through the SUP process, that there is some 
control on the quality of the structure. However, he added that the City needs to be 
careful not to be too restrictive. Mayor Grayson said there may also be deed 
restrictions that do not allow these structures. 
 
Councilmember Kirkley said that the City needs to continue with compassionate 
compliance concerning the existing nonconforming structures. He added that these 
structures are needed, but cautioned not to be too restrictive making it not doable for 
some citizens. 
 
Councilmember Holmes asked how parking will be determined. Mrs. Atkinson said 
that parking is already addressed in the existing ordinance, but parking requirements 
will also be determined during the SUP process. He asked if an architectural 
rendering can substitute for a site plan. Mrs. Atkinson said the applicant will follow 
the same procedure as the existing permitting process for an accessory building. 
 
Mayor Grayson opened the public hearing.  
 
Gary Barmore, 619 Penelope Street, said he has been involved in this topic through 
all the Planning and Zoning meetings. He is looking to build a multi-generational 
facility for his 84 year old father-in-law. However, 800 square feet is too restrictive. 
He said that most house plans that allow for two bedrooms are larger than 800 
square feet. Most of the 800 square feet ADU buildings he has found are for one 
bedroom, but at some point, around the clock nursing care may be needed which 
would require a second bedroom. Mayor Grayson asked Mr. Barmore what size 
structure he was needing. Mr. Barmore said a minimum of 1000 square feet would 
be sufficient. He said his property is a half-acre, and nobody will be able to tell from 
the street whether the ADU is 800 or 1000 square feet. He also doesn’t want to 
spend $1,800 for an elevation plan without a guaranteed approval for construction. 
 
Seeing no one else wishing to speak, the Mayor closed the public hearing.  
 
Councilmember O’Banion asked, “What constitutes a site plan?” Mrs. Atkinson said 
at the permitting application stage, we wouldn’t need to see full architectural plans. 
The applicant can provide a general layout showing dimensions, a floor plan and a 
scope of work, along with exterior materials that are proposed to be used. Once the 
applicant has received preliminary approval, then the construction plans would be 
required. Councilmember Holmes asked if an elevation plan would be required. Mrs. 
Atkinson said that elevation plans are beneficial, but the applicant can actually draw 
the elevation. 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Pearson said he is struggling to understand the 800 square feet 
limit. He asked where that number came from. Mrs. Atkinson said that most of the 
cities researched had a limit of approximately that size. Councilmembers Kirkley and 
O’Banion both said that the size will also depend on the lot size. Councilmember 
Holmes said that the 800 square feet size does not make sense to him. The 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 8 
 

  

proposed ordinance says 800 square feet or 75% of the main dwelling unit, 
whichever is less, which basically limits the ADU to 800 square feet regardless of the 
size of the main dwelling unit. 
 
Several variations of the allowable size for an ADU were discussed. 
 
Councilmember O’Banion made a motion to allow Accessory Dwelling Units that are 
800 square feet or up to 60% of the main structure size, whichever is greater. The 
motion was seconded Councilmember Holmes. Item #8, including the following 
captioned ordinance, was unanimously approved by a vote of 6-0. 

 
ORDINANCE 2018-36 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, AMENDING SEVERAL 
SECTIONS OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE AS IT RELATES TO ACCESSORY 
DWELLING UNITS; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING A PENALTY; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
Miscellaneous 
 
9. Consider authorizing the City Manager to enter into a professional services 

agreement with Turley Associates, Inc. for professional engineering services 
for the Southwest Parkway Project.  

 
Director of Public Works Angellia Points explained that the extension of Southwest 
Parkway from Liberty Park Drive to Huey Drive was identified in the FY2018 TIRZ 
budget and goals. The objective of the project is to improve circulation in southwest 
Belton. The connection over Mitchell Branch Creek also provides Liberty Valley and 
Liberty Park a second means of access.  
 
Mrs. Points said that a portion of Southwest Parkway was built with the Liberty Park 
subdivision. That particular section of Southwest Parkway was built as a 31’ foot 
wide street (back-of-curb to back-of-curb) with a sidewalk on the west side of the 
roadway. Although the 31’ road was constructed to a local street width, the road was 
designed and constructed to the loadings and requirements of a collector. She 
added that with the Liberty Valley Subdivision, a section of Southwest Parkway was 
also built north of Huey Drive. That collector roadway was built as a 37’ foot wide 
street (back-of-curb to back-of-curb) with a sidewalk on the east side of the roadway. 
This project would connect the two built sections of roadway, including the crossing 
over Mitchell Branch.  
 
Points said the extension is proposed to be built to the City’s collector street 
standards, including sidewalk on both sides of the roadway. The project would also 
include widening the existing 31’ wide street to 37’ in width. Additionally, a waterline 
connection is needed to loop the water service in the area. While the road is under 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 9 
 

  

construction, it would be prudent to install a new 8” (minimum) waterline along the 
corridor and connect to existing lines in both subdivisions. 
 
Mrs. Points explained the process that the City follows to select engineering firms for 
projects like this one. A selection committee reviewed the qualifications and 
determined Turley Associates, Inc. to be the most qualified to perform the work. 
Turley Associates has extensive experience in the area of Southwest Parkway with 
the developments of Liberty Valley and Liberty Hill. Turley also designed the culvert 
crossing downstream along Mitchell Branch at Connell Street.  
 
Mayor Grayson asked who was on the selection committee. Mrs. Points said the 
selection committee included the City Manager, the Assistant City Manager/Chief of 
Police, the Director of Finance, the City Clerk, the Director of Public Works and the 
Assistant Director of Public Works. 
 
Points said that the Southwest Parkway Project design scope of services is 
$169,144.68. Funding for the design services is proposed to come from the TIRZ 
Fund, which has a budget of $450,000 allocated for this project. The scope of the 
construction will be determined during the design phase. She said that, at minimum, 
the road connection from the existing Liberty Park Drive to Huey Drive will be 
constructed. The widening of the existing Southwest Parkway south of Liberty Park 
Drive will be bid as an add alternative. 
 
Mayor Grayson asked where this project is on the City’s priority list. Director of 
Finance Brandon Bozon said it was identified as a priority for the TIRZ Board 
approximately two years ago. TIRZ is a joint board with the County, and the County 
really wants to alleviate the traffic congestion in front of the Justice Complex. He 
said it has also been identified as a safety concern since there is currently only one 
way in and out of the subdivision.  
 
Councilmember O’Banion asked what makes Turley more qualified than KPA to do 
this job. Mrs. Points explained that Turley has designed several projects in this area 
and is very familiar with the area. Mr. O’Banion said it concerns him that a 
committee is making decisions on which engineers should be used for projects. He 
added, however, that it makes sense to use Turley for this project. City Manager Listi 
said that in accordance with the law, we cannot bid professional engineering 
services. Mr. O’Banion said that the City has done well with KPA and has a long 
history with them, although he agreed that Turley was probably appropriate for this 
contract. 
 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Holmes, and a second by Councilmember 
Kirkley, Item #9 was unanimously approved by a vote of 6-0. 
 

10. Consider accepting conveyance of 1.391 acres from Barnes Building 
Corporation for drainage purposes. 

 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 10 
 

  

Director of Public Works Angellia Points explained that Barnes Building Corporation 
developed the Liberty Hill subdivision in the mid-2000s. During the platting of the 
subdivision, Property ID 61775 was not owned by the Barnes Building Corporation. 
The property is not developable into a single family lot as drainage is naturally 
conveyed through the property. After platting the subdivision, the property was 
conveyed by Correction Deed to the Barnes Building Corporation and has been in 
the Corporation’s possession until this point.  
 
Mrs. Points said Liberty Hill was developed nearly 12 years, and City Staff has 
become aware of a drainage issue. Contrary to other development projects, the 
drainage for the subdivision was not properly designed. Runoff from the west flows 
into the backyards of the lots along E Ave S. The drainage channels and culverts are 
either undersized or not at the correct elevations. The owner of Property ID 61775 
approached the City about conveying the property to the City at no cost. City Staff 
evaluated the property and determined it could be used in the overall solution to 
address the drainage issues within the Liberty Hill subdivision. She added that the 
Liberty Hill Drainage Project is in preliminary stages of design by KPA for the City to 
determine the best methods to address the drainage issues. Regardless if 
channelization is needed or another detention pond can be constructed, Property ID 
61775 will be critical when constructing such features. 
 
Councilmember O’Banion asked how much work will be required. Mrs. Points said it 
depends on the type of drainage structure that is determined to be best. 
 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Carpenter, and a second by Councilmember 
O’Banion, Item #10 was unanimously approved by a vote of 6-0. 

 
11. Consider an ordinance amending Chapter 2, Article II, Section 2-26 of the Code 

of Ordinances regarding the membership requirements for the Lena 
Armstrong Public Library Board of Directors. 

 
City Clerk Amy Casey said that the City has had trouble recruiting citizens to serve 
on the Board of Directors for the Lena Armstrong Public Library. There are two 
factors that affect the ability to serve. One, the two term limit, is found in the by-laws 
of the Board of Directors, and has recently been removed by the Board. The other 
factor is found in the Code of Ordinances which requires those desiring to serve to 
be a resident of the City of Belton. The Board of Directors met on September 19th 
and recommended the Council change the requirement to allow someone living 
within the boundaries of the Belton Independent School District to serve. 
 
Upon a motion by Mayor Pro Tem Pearson, and a second by Councilmember 
O’Banion, Item #11, including the following captioned ordinance, was unanimously 
approved by a vote of 6-0. 
 
 
 
 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 11 
 

  

ORDINANCE NO. 2018-35 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, 
AMENDING CHAPTER 2, ARTICLE II, SECTION 2-26 OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES REGARDING THE MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS OF THE 
LIBRARY BOARD OF DIRECTORS; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE; PROVIDING A PENALTY; PROVIDING A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN OPEN MEETINGS CLAUSE. 
 

12. Consider authorizing the BEDC Executive Director to execute a contract for 
the sale of 4.35 acres in the Belton Business Park to PC Properties, LLC. 

 
BEDC Executive Director Cynthia Hernandez said that the BEDC has received an 
offer from PC Properties, LLC to purchase 4.35 acres in Phase II of the Belton 
Business Park. PC Properties will construct a 10,000-sf building for Texas First 
Rentals, a HOLT Company based out of San Antonio, Texas.  
 
Mrs. Hernandez explained that the company estimates their investment for the land 
and building at $3.5 million with a target construction completion date of December 
2019. Texas First Rentals will offer heavy equipment rentals as well as some 
equipment sales. The company will start with 9 employees eventually growing to 17 
at the Belton location. 
 
Hernandez said that PC Properties is offering $1.50 per square foot which is the 
BEDC’s current asking price for property in Phase II of the Belton Business Park. 
The contract provides for a 90-day inspection period with the closing to take place 
15 days after the inspection period expires. The buyer will cover the costs of the 
survey, and the seller will pay for title insurance and 3% of the broker’s commission. 
The total estimated cost to BEDC for services and fees related to the sale of the 
property is estimated at $25,477 which will come from the BEDC Fund Balance. 
 
Mrs. Hernandez added that at its meeting on October 17, 2018, the BEDC Board of 
Directors voted to approve the contract as presented. 
 
Councilmember Holmes asked whose broker was being used. Mrs. Hernandez said 
that the broker was the one used by Texas First Rentals. 
 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Holmes, and a second by Councilmember 
Kirkley, Item #12 was unanimously approved by a vote of 6-0. 

 
13. Consider a resolution authorizing the submission of a grant application to the 

Federal Emergency Management Administration for an Assistance to 
Firefighters Grant. 

 
Grants and Special Projects Coordinator Bob van Til said that Assistance to 
Firefighter Grants are provided by the U.S. Department of Homeland Security 
through the Federal Emergency Management Administration. These grants fund 



Belton City Council Meeting 
October 23, 2018 – Page 12 
 

  

equipment purchases, wellness/fitness, and training. The proposed grant application 
will request funding to purchase two RIT packs and 20 SCBAs. He added that this is 
the third time this grant application has been submitted for these items. 
 
Mr. van Til explained that a Rapid Intervention Team (RIT) Pack and a Self-
Contained Breathing Apparatus (SCBA) are designed to provide a firefighter 
"breathable air" when they are low or completely out of air in an environment that is 
immediately dangerous to life or health. The current SCBA equipment is aging (15+ 
years old) and is in need of replacement. 
 
The grant application is due on October 26, 2018, and Staff is recommending a 
grant amount of $190,977. Mr. van Til explained that the local match is $19,098, 
which is ten percent of the grant amount. He added that the grant award is expected 
on June 1, 2019. 
 
Councilmember Holmes asked if the SCBAs are tested and certified each year. Fire 
Chief Bruce Pritchard said that, although there is a 15-20 year life on the SCBAs, 
they are certified each year. 
 
Upon a motion by Councilmember Kirkley, and a second by Mayor Pro Tem 
Pearson, Item #13, including the following captioned resolution, was unanimously 
approved by a vote of 6-0. 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2018-22-R  

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, 
APPROVING THE SUBMITTAL OF A GRANT APPLICATION TO THE FEDERAL 
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT ADMINISTRATION FOR AN ASSISTANCE TO 
FIREFIGHTERS GRANT, PROVIDING A LOCAL MATCH, AND DESIGNATING 
AN AUTHORIZED OFFICIAL. 

 
There being no further business, the Mayor adjourned the meeting at 7:18 p.m. 

 
 
 
 
_____________________________  
Marion Grayson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________  
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 



AC
CE

SS
OR

Y 
D

W
EL

LI
N

G
 U

N
IT

S
~I

nc
re

m
en

ta
l I

nf
ill

 D
ev

el
op

m
en

t~

Exhibit "A"



To
da

y’
s 

D
is

cu
ss

io
n

■
Ba

ck
gr

ou
nd

–
W

hy
 c

on
si

de
r t

he
se

 c
ha

ng
es

?

■
AD

U
–

Ty
pe

s 
w

e 
ar

e 
co

ns
id

er
in

g.

■
W

he
re

 w
e’

re
 a

t–
Cu

rr
en

tly
, i

n 
th

e 
Zo

ni
ng

 O
rd

in
an

ce
.

■
Ch

al
le

ng
es

–
Co

m
m

on
 p

ub
lic

 c
on

ce
rn

s.

■
Be

ne
fit

s
–

Ho
w

 d
oe

s 
th

is
 a

ch
ie

ve
 o

ur
 g

oa
ls

?

■
Pr

op
os

ed
 c

ha
ng

es
–

Re
co

m
m

en
de

d 
re

vi
si

on
s.

■
Re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

n



BA
CK

G
RO

UN
D

 
W

hy
 c

on
si

de
r t

he
se

 c
ha

ng
es

?



Ci
tiz

en
 In

te
re

st
!

Ci
tiz

en
s 

ha
ve

 a
pp

ro
ac

he
d 

th
e 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 
D

ep
t. 

to
 e

xp
re

ss
 th

e 
ne

ed
 fo

r A
D

Us
.

Re
as

on
s:

•
M

ul
tig

en
er

at
io

na
l F

am
ili

es

•
Af

fo
rd

ab
le

 H
ou

si
ng

 O
pt

io
n

•
Re

nt
al

 in
co

m
e

Ar
lin

gt
on

 c
ou

pl
e,

 w
ith

 th
ei

r t
w

o 
ch

ild
re

n,
 e

xp
an

d 
th

ei
r C

ap
e 

C
od

 to
 a

cc
om

m
od

at
e 

hi
s 

da
d 

an
d 

he
r 

pa
re

nt
s.

 –
W

as
hi

ng
to

n 
Po

st
, A

pr
il 

12
, 2

01
8



It’
s 

Im
po

rt
an

t!

20
18

-2
02

2 
St

ra
te

gi
c 

Pl
an

Ye
ar

 1
 G

oa
l 1

c:

Up
da

te
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t p

ol
ic

ie
s 

to
 

en
co

ur
ag

e:

-
Or

ga
ni

c 
in

fil
l d

ev
el

op
m

en
t;

-
Af

fo
rd

ab
le

 h
ou

si
ng

, w
he

re
 

ap
pr

op
ria

te
; a

nd
-

M
od

ifi
ed

 st
an

da
rd

s 
th

at
 e

ns
ur

e 
qu

al
ity

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t.



AD
U 

Ty
pe

s 
w

e 
ar

e 
co

ns
id

er
in

g.



Ty
pe

s 
of

 A
D

Us

■
At

ta
ch

ed
 –

Ad
di

tio
n 

to
 a

n 
ex

is
tin

g 
dw

el
lin

g 
un

it

■
D

et
ac

he
d 

–
A 

se
pa

ra
te

 d
w

el
lin

g 
un

it 
su

bo
rd

in
at

e 
to

 th
e 

m
ai

n 
dw

el
lin

g 
un

it



Pl
ac

em
en

t o
f A

D
Us

■
BE

HI
N

D
 th

e 
m

ai
n 

bu
ild

in
g

■
At

ta
ch

ed
 to

 th
e 

m
ai

n 
bu

ild
in

g

■
D

et
ac

he
d 

fro
m

 th
e 

m
ai

n 
bu

ild
in

g

■
Co

m
pa

tib
le

 w
ith

 th
e 

m
ai

n 
bu

ild
in

g 
an

d 
th

e 
su

rro
un

di
ng

 n
ei

gh
bo

rh
oo

d
G

o 
U

rb
an

 S
an

 D
ie

go
 B

lo
g

https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwjl9N7z6cTdAhUIW60KHRYEAoQQjB16BAgBEAQ&url=https://gourbansandiegoblog.com/2018/05/17/san-diego-makes-room-for-accessory-dwelling-units/&psig=AOvVaw1pRCwjKe4tJvPytXEVw-ul&ust=1537369486038649


W
H

ER
E 

W
E’

RE
 A

T
Cu

rr
en

tly
, i

n 
th

e 
Zo

ni
ng

 O
rd

in
an

ce
.



Cu
rr

en
t c

lim
at

e 
fo

r A
D

Us
 in

 B
el

to
n,

 T
X

■
Un

cl
ea

r d
ef

in
iti

on
s

■
Ou

td
at

ed
 la

ng
ua

ge

■
Li

m
ite

d 
zo

ni
ng

 d
is

tri
ct

s

■
Re

st
ric

tiv
e 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

■
Ex

is
tin

g 
su

pp
ly 

of
 “

ill
eg

al
” 

an
d 

le
ga

l n
on

-c
on

fo
rm

in
g 

AD
Us



Zo
ni

ng
 D

is
tri

ct
s

Al
lo

w
ed

: A
G

 a
nd

 R
E 

ON
LY

■
AG

 –
N

ot
 th

e 
sa

m
e 

ne
ed

s 
as

 
si

ng
le

-fa
m

ily
 z

on
in

g 
di

st
ric

ts

■
RE

 –
3 

tra
ct

s 
in

 th
e 

en
tir

e 
ci

ty
 

zo
ne

d 
th

is
 w

ay
! 

N
ew

 
A

G
 

R
E

 
SF

-1
 

SF
-2

 
SF

-3
 

A
D

U
 w

/ 
K

itc
he

n  


 


 
 

 
 

A
D

U
 w

/o
 

K
itc

he
n 


 


 

 
 

 

E
xi

st
in

g 
A

G
 

R
E

 
SF

-1
 

SF
-2

 
SF

-3
 

Bu
ild

in
g 

C
on

ve
rs

io
n 

N
/A

 
N

/A
 

 
 

 

 



CH
AL

LE
N

G
ES

Co
m

m
on

 p
ub

lic
 c

on
ce

rn
s.



Co
m

m
on

 O
bj

ec
tio

ns
 a

nd
 B

ar
rie

rs

■
Co

m
m

on
 n

ei
gh

bo
rh

oo
d 

ob
je

ct
io

ns
: 

N
oi

se
, p

riv
ac

y, 
pr

op
er

ty
 v

al
ue

 
im

pa
ct

s,
 e

tc
.

■
“N

IM
BY

is
m

”

■
Pa

rk
in

g 
an

d 
tra

ffi
c

■
Fi

na
nc

in
g



BE
N

EF
IT

S
H

ow
 d

oe
s 

th
is

 a
ch

ie
ve

 o
ur

 g
oa

ls
?



Th
e 

go
od

 n
ew

s 
fo

r A
D

Us
!

It 
CA

N
be

 e
as

y 
be

in
g 

gr
ee

n!
 

■
Lo

w
er

 im
pa

ct
 to

 c
ity

 u
til

iti
es

 a
nd

 u
se

 o
f 

ex
is

tin
g 

in
fra

st
ru

ct
ur

e
■

Sm
al

le
r f

oo
tp

rin
t a

nd
 le

ss
 e

le
ct

ric
ity

 a
nd

 
w

at
er

 c
on

su
m

pt
io

n
■

Su
st

ai
na

bl
e 

la
nd

 u
se

 p
ra

ct
ic

e

Ot
he

r p
os

iti
ve

 im
pa

ct
s:

■
Ho

us
in

g 
op

tio
ns

 (m
ul

tig
en

er
at

io
na

l, 
si

ng
le

-p
er

so
n 

HH
, e

tc
.)

■
Af

fo
rd

ab
le

 h
ou

si
ng

■
Or

ga
ni

c 
In

fil
l

■
Re

nt
al

 in
co

m
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l



PR
OP

OS
ED

 C
H

AN
G

ES
Re

co
m

m
en

de
d 

re
vi

si
on

s.



Pr
op

os
ed

 A
m

en
dm

en
ts

A.
Am

en
d 

D
ef

in
iti

on
s:

 R
EM

OV
E 

Se
rv

an
t’s

 Q
ua

rte
rs

 a
nd

 G
ar

ag
e 

Ap
ar

tm
en

t, 
RE

VI
SE

 M
ai

n 
Bu

ild
in

g 
an

d 
Ac

ce
ss

or
y 

Bu
ild

in
g,

 a
nd

 
CR

EA
TE

 A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g 

Un
it 

(A
D

U)
 d

ef
in

iti
on

 

B.
Am

en
d 

Zo
ni

ng
 D

is
tri

ct
s 

to
 a

llo
w

 B
Y 

RI
G

HT
 in

 A
G

 a
nd

 R
E 

an
d 

by
 

SP
EC

IF
IC

 U
SE

 P
ER

M
IT

 in
 S

F-
1,

 S
F-

2,
 a

nd
 S

F-
3

C.
AD

D
–

Co
nv

er
si

on
 o

f E
XI

ST
IN

G
 B

UI
LD

IN
G

 to
 A

D
U 

by
 S

PE
CI

FI
C 

US
E 

PE
RM

IT
in

 A
G

, R
E,

 S
F-

1,
 S

F-
2,

 S
F-

3

D
.

Am
en

d 
Re

gu
la

tio
ns

:
–

Re
qu

ire
d 

Zo
ni

ng
–

# 
of

 A
D

Us
 p

er
 lo

t
–

M
in

. L
ot

 S
iz

e
–

M
ax

 S
qu

ar
e 

ft.
–

M
ax

. L
ot

 C
ov

er
ag

e
–

M
ax

. H
ei

gh
t o

f A
D

U
–

Se
tb

ac
ks

–
Pa

rk
in

g 
Re

qu
ire

m
en

t
–

Bu
ild

in
g 

M
at

er
ia

ls
–

Ut
ili

tie
s 

an
d 

M
et

er
in

g
–

Pl
at

 R
eq

ui
re

d
–

Ow
ne

r-O
cc

up
ie

d 
Bu

ild
in

g 
Pe

rm
its

 (*
no

t r
ec

om
m

en
de

d 
by

 P
&

Z)

N
ew

 
A

G
 

R
E

 
SF

-1
 

SF
-2

 
SF

-3
 

A
D

U
 w

/ 
K

itc
he

n 


 


 
SU

P 
SU

P 
SU

P 

A
D

U
 w

/o
 

K
itc

he
n 


 


 


 


 


 

E
xi

st
in

g 
A

G
 

R
E

 
SF

-1
 

SF
-2

 
SF

-3
 

Bu
ild

in
g 

C
on

ve
rs

io
n 

SU
P 

SU
P 

SU
P 

SU
P 

SU
P 

 



Pr
op

os
ed

 R
ev

is
io

ns
 -

D
ef

in
iti

on
s

R
EV

IS
E:

■
B

ui
ld

in
g,

M
ai

n:
A

bu
ild

in
g

in
w

hi
ch

th
e

pr
in

ci
pa

lu
se

of
th

e
lo

to
n

w
hi

ch
it

is
si

tu
at

ed
is

co
nd

uc
te

d.
In

a
re

si
de

nt
ia

ld
is

tri
ct

an
y

dw
el

lin
g

sh
al

lb
e

de
em

ed
to

be
a

m
ai

n
bu

ild
in

g
on

th
e

lo
to

n
w

hi
ch

it
is

si
tu

at
ed

.

■
Ac

ce
ss

or
y

B
ui

ld
in

g:
A

su
bo

rd
in

at
e

bu
ild

in
g

or
a

po
rti

on
of

th
e

m
ai

n
bu

ild
in

g
lo

ca
te

d
on

th
e

sa
m

e
lo

ta
s

th
e

m
ai

n
bu

ild
in

g,
th

e
us

e
of

w
hi

ch
is

in
ci

de
nt

al
to

th
at

of
th

e
do

m
in

an
tu

se
of

th
e

bu
ild

in
g

or
pr

em
is

es
.

Ac
ce

ss
or

y
bu

ild
in

gs
m

ay
in

cl
ud

e
pa

rk
in

g
ga

ra
ge

s,
ad

ja
ce

nt
fa

rm
st

ru
ct

ur
es

,h
om

e
w

or
ks

ho
ps

an
d

to
ol

ho
us

es
,s

to
ra

ge
sh

ed
s,

ho
m

e
gr

ee
nh

ou
se

s,
et

c.
An

ac
ce

ss
or

y
dw

el
lin

g
sh

al
lm

ea
n

th
e

sa
m

e
as

ac
ce

ss
or

y
bu

ild
in

g
ex

ce
pt

it
m

ay
be

us
ed

as
a

re
si

de
nc

e.

R
EM

O
VE

:
■

G
ar

ag
e

Ap
ar

tm
en

t:
A

dw
el

lin
g

un
it

fo
ro

ne
fa

m
ily

er
ec

te
d

in
co

nj
un

ct
io

n
w

ith
a

ga
ra

ge
.

■
Se

rv
an

t’s
Q

ua
rt

er
s:

An
ac

ce
ss

or
y

dw
el

lin
g

in
a

re
si

de
nt

ia
ld

is
tri

ct
fo

r
th

e
so

le
us

e
an

d
oc

cu
pa

nc
y

of
a

m
em

be
r

of
th

e
im

m
ed

ia
te

fa
m

ily
or

a
pe

rs
on

or
pe

rs
on

s
em

pl
oy

ed
on

th
e

pr
em

is
es

by
th

e
oc

cu
pa

nt
on

a
fu

ll
tim

e
ba

si
s

as
do

m
es

tic
he

lp
,

su
ch

as
a

m
ai

d,
ya

rd
m

an
,c

ha
uf

fe
ur

,c
oo

k
or

ga
rd

en
er

,b
ut

no
ti

nv
ol

vi
ng

th
e

re
nt

al
of

su
ch

fa
ci

lit
ie

s
or

th
e

us
e

of
se

pa
ra

te
ut

ilit
y

co
nn

ec
tio

ns
.

AD
D

:
■

Ac
ce

ss
or

y
Dw

el
lin

g
U

ni
t:

A
su

bo
rd

in
at

e
bu

ild
in

g
or

a
po

rti
on

of
th

e
m

ai
n

bu
ild

in
g

lo
ca

te
d

on
th

e
sa

m
e

lo
ta

s
th

e
m

ai
n

bu
ild

in
g

an
d

m
ay

be
us

ed
as

a
re

si
de

nc
e.

D
is

tin
ct

io
n

is
m

ad
e

be
tw

ee
n

an
Ac

ce
ss

or
y

D
w

el
lin

g
U

ni
tw

ith
a

ki
tc

he
n

an
d

w
ith

ou
ta

ki
tc

he
n.

Ac
ce

ss
or

y
dw

el
lin

g
un

its
th

at
do

no
tc

on
ta

in
a

ki
tc

he
n

in
cl

ud
e

gu
es

th
ou

se
s

or
po

ol
ho

us
es

.



Pr
op

os
ed

 R
ev

is
io

ns
 -

Zo
ni

ng

N
ew

 
A

G
 

R
E

 
SF

-1
 

SF
-2

 
SF

-3
 

A
D

U
 w

/ 
K

itc
he

n 


 


 
SU

P 
SU

P 
SU

P 

A
D

U
 w

/o
 

K
itc

he
n 


 


 


 


 


 

E
xi

st
in

g 
A

G
 

R
E

 
SF

-1
 

SF
-2

 
SF

-3
 

Bu
ild

in
g 

C
on

ve
rs

io
n 

SU
P 

SU
P 

SU
P 

SU
P 

SU
P 

 

CURRENT PROPOSED



Pr
op

os
ed

-A
cc

es
so

ry
 B

ui
ld

in
g 

&
 U

se
 

Re
gu

la
tio

ns
 (S

ec
tio

n 
36

)
a.

Lo
tm

us
tb

e
zo

ne
d

A
G

,R
E

,S
F-

1,
S

F-
2,

S
F-

3;
b.

Li
m

it
to

O
N

E
A

D
U

pe
rl

ot
;

c.
M

in
im

um
lo

ts
iz

e
of

50
00

sq
ua

re
fe

et
;

d.
M

ax
im

um
sq

ua
re

fe
et

al
lo

w
ed

sh
al

lb
e

no
m

or
e

th
an

80
0

sq
ua

re
fe

et
or

no
m

or
e

th
an

75
%

of
th

e
sq

ua
re

fo
ot

ag
e

of
th

e
m

ai
n

bu
ild

in
g,

w
hi

ch
ev

er
is

le
ss

;
e.

M
ax

im
um

he
ig

ht
lim

it
-

m
us

tb
e

co
m

pa
tib

le
w

ith
ex

is
tin

g
st

ru
ct

ur
es

an
d

su
rr

ou
nd

in
g

pr
op

er
tie

s,
no

tt
o

ex
ce

ed
2½

st
or

ie
s;

f.
B

ui
ld

in
g

se
tb

ac
ks

–
A

D
U

m
us

tb
e

co
ns

tru
ct

ed
to

th
e

re
ar

of
th

e
m

ai
n

bu
ild

in
g

an
d

if
de

ta
ch

ed
,

m
us

t
be

se
pa

ra
te

d
fro

m
th

e
m

ai
n

bu
ild

in
g

by
a

m
in

im
um

di
st

an
ce

of
10

fe
et

an
d

ob
se

rv
e

th
e

sa
m

e
si

de
ya

rd
se

tb
ac

ks
as

th
e

m
ai

n
bu

ild
in

g.
A

n
A

D
U

sh
al

lh
av

e
a

re
ar

ya
rd

se
tb

ac
k

of
no

le
ss

th
an

10
fe

et
;

g.
O

ne
ad

di
tio

na
lp

ar
ki

ng
sp

ac
e

is
re

qu
ire

d
fo

r
th

e
ad

di
tio

n
of

an
A

D
U

if
th

e
re

qu
ire

d
m

in
im

um
pa

rk
in

g
fo

rt
he

m
ai

n
bu

ild
in

g
pl

us
on

e
sp

ac
e

is
no

tp
ro

vi
de

d
on

th
e

lo
t;

h.
M

ax
im

um
lo

t
co

ve
ra

ge
sh

al
lb

e
no

m
or

e
th

an
60

%
w

ith
th

e
ad

di
tio

n
of

an
A

D
U

,
in

cl
ud

in
g

th
e

m
ai

n
bu

ild
in

g
an

d
an

y
ot

he
ra

cc
es

so
ry

bu
ild

in
gs

;
i.

B
ui

ld
in

g
m

at
er

ia
ls

sh
al

lb
e

co
m

pa
tib

le
w

ith
th

e
m

ai
n

bu
ild

in
g

an
d

co
m

pl
y

w
ith

th
e

C
ity

of
B

el
to

n
D

es
ig

n
S

ta
nd

ar
ds

;
j.

U
til

iti
es

(w
at

er
an

d
se

w
er

)m
us

ts
ha

re
m

et
er

s
w

ith
th

e
m

ai
n

bu
ild

in
g;

k.
Lo

tm
us

tb
e

pl
at

te
d

pe
rS

ec
tio

n
45

,C
re

at
io

n
of

a
B

ui
ld

in
g

S
ite

.
l.

A
D

U
bu

ild
in

g
pe

rm
it

is
su

ed
fo

ro
w

ne
ro

cc
up

ie
d

pr
op

er
ty

on
ly

(*
no

tr
ec

om
m

en
de

d
by

P&
Z)



RE
CO

M
M

EN
DA

TI
ON



Re
co

m
m

en
da

tio
n

H
ol

d 
a 

pu
bl

ic
 h

ea
rin

g 
on

 p
ro

po
se

d 
co

de
 a

m
en

dm
en

ts
 a

nd
, i

f 
re

ad
y, 

re
co

m
m

en
d 

ap
pr

ov
al

 o
f a

n 
or

di
na

nc
e 

am
en

di
ng

 s
ev

er
al

 
se

ct
io

ns
 o

f t
he

 Z
on

in
g 

Or
di

na
nc

e 
as

 it
 re

la
te

s 
to

 A
cc

es
so

ry
 

D
w

el
lin

g 
Un

its
 (A

D
U)

.



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 1 of 1   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
Agenda Item #6 
 
Consider reappointment to the Belton Economic Development Board of Directors. 
 
 
Originating Department 
 
Administration – Amy M. Casey, City Clerk 
 
 
Background 

 
Joe Shepperd’s term on the BEDC Board of Directors will expire on November 30, 2018. 
Mayor Grayson is recommending him for reappointment, and he has expressed a desire to 
serve another 3-year term. 
  
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
N/A 
 
 
Recommendation 
 
Recommend approval of the reappointment. 
 
 
Attachments 
 
None 



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
Agenda Item #7 
 
Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance amending Chapter 22, Article VI, Section 
22-106 through 22-108 of the Code of Ordinances regarding traffic schedules and speed 
limit regulations. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Public Works – Angellia Points, Director of Public Works/City Engineer  
 
Summary Information 
 
Current Ordinance 
Section 22-106 through 22-108 currently reads as follows:  
 
Sec. 22-106. - Traffic schedules and speed limit regulations.  
All traffic schedules of the City indicating through, stop and yield streets, one-way streets 
and speed limits shall be on file in the City Clerk's office. 
 
Secs. 22-107—22-120. - Reserved. 
 
Proposed Ordinance 
After the installation of traffic control devices, an ordinance needs to be passed in order to 
enforce penalties. Moving forward, Staff will propose such ordinance twice a year as new 
subdivisions and new signs are installed.    

Sec. 22-106. – Traffic schedules and speed limit regulations. 
(a) All traffic schedules of the City indicating through, stop and yield signs, one-way 

streets and speed limits shall be on file in the City Clerk’s office and/or listed in the 
following schedule.  
 
Schedule A.  
A stop sign at the northeast corner of E 13th Avenue facing east at its intersection 
with North Beal Street.  
A stop sign at the southwest corner of E 13th Avenue facing west at its intersection 
with North Beal Street.  
A stop sign at the northeast corner of W Ave D facing east at its intersection with 
Mitchell Street.  
A stop sign at the southwest corner of W Ave D facing west at its intersection with 
Mitchell Street.  



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 2 of 2   
 

PART 2:  Chapter 22, Article IV, Sections 22-107 and 108 through 120 “Penalty” and 
“Reserved”, respectively, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Belton, Texas, is hereby 
added and amended to read as follows: 
 
Sec. 22-107. – Penalty. 

(a) Any person, corporation or association violating any provision of this Ordinance 
shall be deemed guilty of an offense, and upon conviction shall be punished by a 
fine not to exceed Five Hundred Dollars ($500). The violation thereof shall be 
deemed a separate offense, and shall be punished accordingly. 

(b) The driving or operating of any motor vehicle on or along any portion of a public 
street of the City at a rate of speed that is greater than the maximum rate of speed 
fixed by this traffic code shall be a violation of this traffic code. Any person 
convicted of violating any of the provisions of this chapter shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor known as the offense of speeding and shall, upon conviction, be 
fined in an amount not to exceed $200. 

(c) Any person convicted of an offense under this chapter of this code, or an offense 
under Section 545.066, Texas Transportation Code, while driving or operating a 
motor vehicle within a school zone as described in this code, shall, upon conviction, 
pay as court costs $25 in addition to other taxable court costs. 

(d) The money collected under this subsection shall be collected in the same manner 
that other fines and taxable court costs in the case are collected; and 

(e) Above notwithstanding, it shall not be a defense in a prosecution under this traffic 
code that there was no sign, or that such sign was not sufficiently legible or in a 
proper position to be seen by the defendant or by an ordinarily observant person. 

Sec. 22-108-120 – Reserved. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
None. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Hold the public hearing and adopt the ordinance amending Chapter 22, Article VI, Sections 
22-106 through 22-108 of the Code of Ordinances. 
 
Attachments 
Ordinance 



  Page 1 

ORDINANCE NO. 2018-37 
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BELTON, TEXAS, 
AMENDING CHAPTER 22, ARTICLE VI, SECTION 22 OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES, ADDING SCHEDULE A REGARDING STOP SIGNS IN CITY 
STREETS, AND ADDING A PENALTY CLAUSE FOR A VIOLATION OF CHAPTER 22; 
REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES TO THE EXTENT THEY ARE IN CONFLICT; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Belton desires to continue to protect and ensure the public 
health, safety, and welfare of its residents and businesses by regulating and guiding road 
users for the protection of the general travelling public; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Belton is authorized by Texas Transportation Code to 

establish and regulate compliance with rules governing the use of public thoroughfares; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 22 of the City of Belton’s Code of Ordinances requires the 

driver of any vehicle to obey the instructions of any official traffic-control device; and 
 
WHEREAS, Chapter 22 of the City of Belton’s Code of Ordinances gives the traffic 

director the authority to place and maintain official traffic-control devices as required 
under the traffic ordinances of this City to make effective the provisions of the ordinances, 
and the traffic director may place and maintain such additional official traffic-control 
devices as they may deem necessary to regulate, warn or guide traffic under the traffic 
ordinances of this City or under State law; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to amend and supplement its regulations as 

provided by, and consistent with, Texas law. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BELTON, TEXAS, THAT: 
 
PART 1:  Chapter 22, Article IV, Section 22-106 “Traffic schedules and speed limit 

regulations” of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Belton, Texas, is hereby amended 
to read as follows: 

Sec. 22-106. – Traffic schedules and speed limit regulations. 

(a) All traffic schedules of the City indicating through, stop and yield signs, one-way 
streets and speed limits shall be on file in the City Clerk’s office and/or listed in 
the following schedule.  
 
Schedule A.  



  Page 2 

A stop sign at the northeast corner of E 13th Avenue facing east at its intersection 
with North Beal Street.  
A stop sign at the southwest corner of E 13th Avenue facing west at its intersection 
with North Beal Street.  
A stop sign at the northeast corner of W Ave D facing east at its intersection with 
Mitchell Street.  
A stop sign at the southwest corner of W Ave D facing west at its intersection 
with Mitchell Street.  

PART 2:  Chapter 22, Article IV, Sections 22-107 and 108 through 120 “Penalty” 
and “Reserved,” respectively, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Belton, Texas, is 
hereby added and amended to read as follows: 

Sec. 22-107. – Penalty. 

(a) Any person, corporation or association violating any provision of this Ordinance 
shall be deemed guilty of an offense, and upon conviction shall be punished by 
a fine not to exceed Five Hundred Dollars ($500). The violation thereof shall be 
deemed a separate offense, and shall be punished accordingly. 

(b) The driving or operating of any motor vehicle on or along any portion of a public 
street of the City at a rate of speed that is greater than the maximum rate of speed 
fixed by this traffic code shall be a violation of this traffic code. Any person 
convicted of violating any of the provisions of this chapter shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor known as the offense of speeding and shall, upon conviction, be 
fined in an amount not to exceed $200. 

(c) Any person convicted of an offense under this chapter of this code, or an offense 
under Section 545.066, Texas Transportation Code, while driving or operating a 
motor vehicle within a school zone as described in this code, shall, upon 
conviction, pay as court costs $25 in addition to other taxable court costs. 

(d) The money collected under this subsection shall be collected in the same manner 
that other fines and taxable court costs in the case are collected; and 

(e) Above notwithstanding, it shall not be a defense in a prosecution under this traffic 
code that there was no sign, or that such sign was not sufficiently legible or in a 
proper position to be seen by the defendant or by an ordinarily observant person. 

Sec. 22-108-120 – Reserved. 

 PART 3.  Chapter 22 of the City of Belton’s Code of Ordinances is hereby amended 
as provided in this Ordinance, and all prior ordinances of the City dealing with through 
streets and stop intersections in said location(s) are hereby amended to the extent of any 
conflict herewith, and all ordinances or parts thereof conflicting or inconsistent with the 
provisions of this Ordinance as adopted and amended herein, are hereby amended to the 
extent of such conflict. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between this Ordinance 
and any other code or ordinance of the City, the terms and provisions of this Ordinance 
shall govern. 



  Page 3 

PART 4: It is hereby declared to be the intention of the City Council that if any 
sections, paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this ordinance should be 
declared invalid by the final judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, 
such invalidity shall not affect any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, 
paragraphs and sections of this ordinance of any such invalid phrase, clause, sentence, 
paragraph or section.  

 
PART 5: This ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage 

and publication in accordance with the provisions of the Charter of the City of Belton, 
Texas and the Texas Local Government Code, and it is accordingly so ordained.  
 

PART 6: The Code of Ordinances of the City of Belton, Texas, as amended, shall 
remain in full force and effect, save and except as amended by this ordinance. 
 

PART 7:  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this 
ordinance is passed was open to the public as required and that public notice of the time, 
place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act. 

 
PASSED AND APPROVED on this the 13th day of November, 2018. 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
Marion Grayson, Mayor 

ATTEST:       
 
 
_______________________________    
Amy M. Casey, City Clerk     
 
 
 
 
 



Amending Chapter 22 of 
the Code of Ordinances
CITY COUNCIL 

NOVEMBER 13, 2018



Existing Ordinance 
Chapter 22, Article VI, Section 22-106 of the Code of Ordinances states the following.

Sec. 22-106. - Traffic schedules and speed limit regulations.
◦ All traffic schedules of the City indicating through, stop and yield streets, one-way streets and speed 

limits shall be on file in the City Clerk's office.

Secs. 22-107—22-120. - Reserved.

• After the installation of traffic control devices, an ordinance needs to be passed in order to 
enforce penalties. 

• Moving forward, Staff will propose such ordinance twice a year as new subdivisions and new 
signs are installed.   



Proposed Ordinance 
Sec. 22-106. – Traffic schedules and speed limit regulations.

All traffic schedules of the City indicating through, stop and yield signs, one-way streets and 
speed limits shall be on file in the City Clerk’s office and/or listed in the following schedule. 
◦ Schedule A. 
◦ A stop sign at the northeast corner of E 13th Avenue facing east at its intersection with North Beal 

Street. 
◦ A stop sign at the southwest corner of E 13th Avenue facing west at its intersection with North Beal 

Street. 
◦ A stop sign at the northeast corner of W Ave D facing east at its intersection with Mitchell Street. 
◦ A stop sign at the southwest corner of W Ave D facing west at its intersection with Mitchell Street. 



Proposed Ordinance 
Sec. 22-107. – Penalty.

a) Any person, corporation or association violating any provision of this Ordinance shall be deemed guilty of an 
offense, and upon conviction shall be punished by a fine not to exceed Five Hundred Dollars ($500). The 
violation thereof shall be deemed a separate offense, and shall be punished accordingly.

b) The driving or operating of any motor vehicle on or along any portion of a public street of the City at a rate of 
speed that is greater than the maximum rate of speed fixed by this traffic code shall be a violation of this 
traffic code. Any person convicted of violating any of the provisions of this chapter shall be guilty of a 
misdemeanor known as the offense of speeding and shall, upon conviction, be fined in an amount not to 
exceed $200.

c) Any person convicted of an offense under this chapter of this code, or an offense under Section 545.066, 
Texas Transportation Code, while driving or operating a motor vehicle within a school zone as described in 
this code, shall, upon conviction, pay as court costs $25 in addition to other taxable court costs.

d) The money collected under this subsection shall be collected in the same manner that other fines and taxable 
court costs in the case are collected; and

e) Above notwithstanding, it shall not be a defense in a prosecution under this traffic code that there was no 
sign, or that such sign was not sufficiently legible or in a proper position to be seen by the defendant or by an 
ordinarily observant person.

Sec. 22-108-120 – Reserved.



Next Steps
Hold the public hearing and adopt the ordinance amending Chapter 22, Article VI, Section 22-106 
through 22-108 of the Code of Ordinances.



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 1 of 3   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #8 
 
Consider approval and recordation of non-annexation Development Agreements for 
properties owned by the Dickson Family, including: 
 

# PROPERTY OWNER(S) PROPERTY ID 
1 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 29291 
2 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 29292 
3 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 29288 
4 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX 29278 
5 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 29283 
6 DICKSON, CHESTER E 29274 
7 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 29282 
8 DICKSON, CHESTER E 29276 
9 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 29285 
10 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 10240 
11 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 29286 
12 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA 25237 
13 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 123231 
14 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 124431 
15 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX DIANE M 8672 
16 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 29280 
17 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 29279 
18 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 38071 
19 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 168881 
20 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 49350 
21 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 419292 
22 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 419293 
23 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 419294 
24 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 587 

25 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 107623 

26 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 471161 
27 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE  477158* 
28 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE  107618 

*Part of Property ID 114064 that was divided and purchased by another entity in 2017.  
 



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 2 of 3   
 

Originating Department 
 
Public Works – Angellia Points, Director of Public Works/City Engineer  
 
Summary Information 
 
The property owners, Mr. and Mrs. Dickson, representing 28 parcels, are requesting to sign 
Non-Annexation Development Agreements for a 10-year period, and they are 
recommended for approval and recordation. A 10-year term is consistent with the 
surrounding, existing non-annexation development agreements, and will begin upon Council 
approval, extending two (2) years beyond the 2016 development agreements, in conjunction 
with Growth Management Study in late 2016.  
 
The request for a non-annexation development agreement is a condition for providing a 
waterline easement to the City of Belton for the North Belton Waterline Project that will 
connect the proposed third elevated storage tank to the transmission line from BCWCID No. 
1. The Agreements represent tracts located just along Sparta Road, south of FM439, and 
west of Wheat Road.   
 
Mr. and Mrs. Dickson have acquired properties with existing development agreements that 
were signed in 2016. The following properties that were purchased by the Dickson Family 
currently have approved and recorded 2016 non-annexation development agreements.  
 

 # PROPERTY OWNER(S) PROPERTY ID 

CURRENT 
DEVELOPMENT 

AGREEMENT 
EXPIRATION DATE 

18 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 38071 November 22, 2026 
19 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 168881 November 22, 2026 
20 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 49350 November 22, 2026 
26 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 471161 November 22, 2026 
27 DICKSON, CHESTER E ETUX LINDA DIANE 477158* November 22, 2026 
*Part of Property ID 114064 that was divided and purchased by another entity in 2017.  
 
The listed properties above with existing non-annexation development agreements are now 
owned by the Dickson Family. The 2016 development agreements are recommended to be 
replaced by the proposed development agreement in today’s action, creating a new term 
starting November 22, 2018, expiring November 22, 2028.  
 
Signed Development Agreements provide the bridge to timely annexation and development, 
will trigger a consideration for voluntary annexation when, and if, development is desired 
and, until that time, the City will have no obligation for Municipal Services here on these 
properties.  The Development Agreements should be approved and recorded in the Bell 
County Courthouse since they: 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 3 of 3   
 

• Facilitate long range planning 
• Protect current and future development 
• Avoid establishment of incompatible land uses 
• Avoid premature annexation and need to extend city services 

 
Fiscal Impact 
 
N/A 
   
Recommendation 
 
Recommend approval recordation of the executed Development Agreement with a ten-year 
term to expire November 22, 2028. 
 
Attachments 
Non Annexation Development Agreement 
Map of Signed Non-Annexation Development Agreements  
 





















Properties Owned by the Dickson Family


Properties Owned by the Dickson Family













4



image2.tmp







Dickson Ranch 
Non-Annexation 

Development Agreement
November 13, 2018 Council Meeting



Background
• An easement is needed for the North Belton Waterline across the Dickson 

Ranch property.
• In order for the waterline easements to be provided at no cost to the City, Mr. 

and Mrs. Dickson are requesting a non-annexation development agreement 
for each of their properties in Belton’s ETJ. 

• The term for the agreement will be 10 years, similar to the terms of the 
surrounding existing 2016 development agreements. 

• The Dickson’s have purchased properties currently under the 2016 
development agreements. Staff recommends the new 2018 agreement 
replace the 2016 agreements to have all properties on the same term of 10 
years starting November 22, 2018 and expiring November 22, 2028. 

Today’s recommendation: Approve executed development agreement. 



2016 Annexation Study Area 5

• 11/22/2016 – Approval and recordation of ten (10) Non-
Annexation Development Agreement for 10 years.    
(Expire 11/22/2026)

• Properties highlighted in yellow have been purchased by 
the Dickson’s.

• Staff recommends the Dickson properties currently under 
the 2016 agreements be replaced with the new 2018 
agreement, with the new expiration date of November 22, 
2028. PROPERTY OWNER(S) PROPERTY ID

1 FULWILER, JOHN POWELL 38585
2 HICKS, VERNON M 49350
3 FRANKS, DOUGLAS G & MELISA K 49348
4 HOLLE, GLORIA M & EUGENE D 38071
5 HOLLE, GLORIA M & EUGENE D 168881
6 RON'S ONE STOP INC 66225
7 SULAK, CODY WAYNE & JACQUELINE JORGETTE 471161
8 TALLEY, WILLIAM MURPHY ETUX 114064 (477158)
9 DISHON, GEORGE ETUX STACIE 58245

10 DISHON, GEORGE ETUX STACIE 194307



Properties Owned by the Dickson Family



New Non-Annexation Development 
Agreement Terms
• The new non-annexation development agreement is requested in order to provide 

an easement for the North Belton Waterline needed for the third elevated storage 
tank. 

• The Dickson properties, even those with existing 2016 agreements, are proposed to 
have a 10-year term for the new non-annexation development agreement. The new 
agreement would start on 11/22/2018 and expire on 11/22/2028.

• The agreements would run with the property. 
• The agreements should be approved and recorded in the Bell County Courthouse 

since they:
• Facilitate long range planning
• Protect current and future development
• Avoid establishment of incompatible land uses
• Avoid premature annexation and need to extend city services



Next Steps
• Approve the Non-Annexation Development Agreement.
• Staff to record the agreement and waterline easements in the Bell

County Courthouse.



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
Agenda Item #9 
 
Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a change order for Phase I of the Temple-
Belton Wastewater Treatment Plant Expansion Project. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Public Works – Angellia Points, Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
Background 
 
The Temple-Belton Wastewater Treatment Plant (TBWWTP), located on FM 93/E 6th Ave 
between IH-35 and the Leon River, is owned by the Cities of Temple and Belton and is 
permitted to treat 10 million gallons per day (MGD) of wastewater. Temple and Belton share 
capital improvement costs at 75% and 25%, respectively. Both cities have contracted with 
the Brazos River Authority to operate the facility. The plant was constructed in 1975, 
expanded in 1990, and currently treats wastewater from approximately 70% of Temple and 
all of Belton.  
 
On September 12, 2017, Council awarded a construction contract to Archer Western in the 
amount of (Belton’s share) $3,277,500 with deductive Change Order No. 1 in the amount of 
(Belton’s share) -$246,895.50. The net contract amount awarded for Belton’s share was 
$3,030,604.50. The total contract amount award by both Belton and Temple to Archer 
Western was $12,122,418.  
 
In April 2018, Staff approved Change Order No. 2 in the amount of $15,722.74 (Belton’s 
25% share) for changes made in the field due to the existing force main pipe material 
change. 
 
As indicated in the attached proposed Change Order #3, and the Engineer’s Letter of 
Recommendation, this change order is necessary due to unknown conditions discovered 
during construction, as well as an item to accommodate future Phase 2 construction. 
Proposed Change Order #3 totals $460,881.53 of which $115,220.38 is Belton’s 25% share.  
 
This Change Order No. 3 and the previous change orders result in a total contract of 
$12,646,190.50, a net decrease of 3.54% from the original bid amount. Time allotted for the 
additional construction activities is 45 calendar days.  
 
The City of Temple reviewed the proposed change order on October 18, 2018, and 
executed their share.  
 
 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 2 of 2   
 

Fiscal Impact 
 
The fiscal impact of this item is $115,220.38, which represents Belton’s share of proposed 
Change Order #3. The funding is available from the Water & Sewer Capital Fund. 
 
Budgeted:   Yes     No  Capital Project Funds 
 
Recommendation 
 
Authorize the City Manager to execute a change order with Archer Western for 
modifications during construction of the Phase I headworks replacement at the Temple-
Belton Wastewater Treatment Plant. 
 
Attachments 
Engineer’s Letter of Recommendation  
Change Order No. 3 
Project Map 























Construction Item Total
Belton’s 25% 

Share
Temple’s 75% 

Share
Action

Base Bid $13,110,000 $3,277,500 $9,832,500
Awarded to Archer 

Western

Add Alternate for 
Roadway

$72,000 $18,000 $54,000 Did not award

Change Order No. 1 ($987,582.00) ($246,895.50) ($740,686.50)
Approved deductive change 

order

TOTAL AWARD 
COSTS

$12,122,418 $3,030,604.50 $9,091,813.50
Awarded to Archer 

Western

Change Order No. 2 $62,890.97 $15,722.74 $47,168.23 Approved by Staff

Change Order No. 3 $460,881.53 $115,220.38 $345,661.15
Today’s Action: 

Recommended for Award

REVISED TOTAL 
CONTRACT

$12,646,190.50 $3,161,547.63 $9,484,642.88 -





City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 1 of 3   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
Agenda Item #10 
 
Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a contract for the Chisholm Trail Hike and 
Bike Trail Phase II, and any change orders associated with the contract, not to exceed the 
amount authorized under state law. 
   
Originating Department 
 
Public Works – Angellia Points, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
Summary Information 
 
Belton’s Hike and Bike Trail network currently extends from IH-35 at Confederate Park to 
north of W MLK Jr. Ave along University. The Sparta Road Reconstruction Project included 
a 10-foot Hike and Bike Trail along Sparta Road from Commerce Drive to Loop 121. 
However, there is a disconnect between these trail networks, with the BNSF railroad 
dividing the two trail components.  
 
In order to link Belton’s trail network from IH-35 to Sparta and Loop 121, City Council 
passed a resolution on May 12, 2015, regarding the City's 20% match requirement to submit 
an application to TxDOT for Phase II of the Chisholm Trail Hike and Bike Facility.  
 
In June 2016, the City entered into an Advance Funding Agreement with the Texas 
Department of Transportation for Phase II of the Chisholm Trail Hike and Bike Facility. 
TxDOT allocated $2,136,492 in federal funding for construction with a total local 
commitment from the City of Belton of $597,448, but was reduced by $200,000 based on 
local contributions.  
 
Original Route Federal Local Total
Construction $1,900,080 $70,020 $1,970,100 
Engineering - $467,075 $467,075 
State Costs $236,412 $59,103 $295,515 
ROW/ Appraisal - $1,250 $1,250 
Total $2,136,492 $597,448 $2,733,940 
Share 78% 22% 100%  
 
Engineering Services and Alignment Decision 
 
The City selected Kasberg, Patrick and Associates (KPA) on February 28, 2017 to provide 
engineering services for the project. As KPA diligently began working on the design of the 
tunnel and trail alignment through the Spring and Summer of 2017, the presence of a fiber 
line was determined to present a substantial conflict with the tunnel under the railroad. After 



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 2 of 3   
 

evaluating multiple alignments, Council approved a realignment along University, Crusader, 
and Sparta Road on January 23, 2018. This alignment was also approved by TxDOT.  
 
Because of the funding source, the project deadline for the let date, or bid opening, was 
September 28, 2018. Significant effort by KPA, City staff, affected utilities, and TxDOT 
project managers was accomplished in order to meet the deadline.  
 
Project Bid and Award 
 
KPA completed the design in August 2018, and bids were opened on September 28, 2018. 
Six (6) qualified bids were received for the project, as shown in the following table.  
 
Contractor     Bid Amount    
Barsh Company, Waco   $1,682,584.10 
TTG Utilities, Gatesville   $1,726,000.00 
James Construction Group, Belton $1,783,983.00 
Smith Contracting, Austin   $2,022,513.50 
Holy Contractors, Hewitt   $2,152,449.86 
Prota Construction, Austin   $2,175,275.20 
 
The Director of Public Works/City Engineer, the Assistant Director of Public Works, TxDOT 
project managers, and the Project Engineer at KPA, evaluated the bids received. The low 
bidder, Barsh Company, has successfully worked with the City of Belton in the past on the 
Nolan Creek Hike and Bike Trail. It has been determined that Barsh Construction of Waco, 
Texas, the low bidder, has the capability and experience to perform to the requirements of 
the contract.  
 
The duration of construction is estimated to be approximately 12 months.  
 
After the project is awarded, a letter will be hand delivered to each property owner along the 
project site to notify them of the construction activity.  
 
UMHB requested additional conduit be placed under the sidewalk along University Drive for 
future telecommunication lines. This item was bid as a separate item and will be fully funded 
by UMHB.  
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
The entire contract for the project is $2,472,579. The local cost share is $566,100. The City 
provided $334,123 in funding for the project in FY 2016. The City has also received a 
donation of $100,000 from Janet and David K. Leigh and a pledge of $100,000 from the 
University of Mary Hardin-Baylor to fund this project. In total, $534,123 of funding for this 
project has been identified. City Staff will work to identify cost savings or additional funding 
as the project progresses in order to address the gap between the local cost share and 
current funding ($31,977).  



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 3 of 3   
 

Cost Federal Local Total 
Construction $1,670,067 $12,517 $1,682,584 
Engineering  $467,180 $467,180 
ROW/Appraisal  $27,300 $27,300 
Admin Fees $236,412 $59,103 $295,515 
Total $1,906,479 $566,100 $2,472,579 
Share 77% 23% 100% 
 
 
 
Budgeted:   Yes     No  Capital Project Funds 
 
Recommendation 
 
Authorize the City Manager to execute a contract with Barsh Company for the construction 
of the Chisholm Trail Hike and Bike Phase II Project, and any change orders associated 
with the contract, not to exceed the amount authorized under State law.  
 
Attachments 
 
Engineer’s Letter of Recommendation  
Bid Tabulation 

 

























City Council
November 13, 2018

Chisholm Trail Hike and Bike Trail 

Bid Award



Project Background
▪ Belton’s H&B Trail network extends from IH-35 at Confederate 

Park to north of W MLK Jr. Ave along University. The Sparta 
Road Reconstruction Project included a 10’ H&B trail along 
Sparta Road from Commerce Drive to Loop 121. However, the 
BNSF railroad divided the two trail components. 

▪ In order to link Belton’s trail network from IH-35 to Sparta and 
Loop 121, Council passed a resolution on 5/12/15, regarding the 
City's 20% match requirement to submit an application to 
TxDOT for Phase II of the Chisholm Trail H&B Facility. 



Project Background
▪ In June 2016, the City entered into an Advance Funding Agreement 

with TxDOT for Phase II of the Chisholm Trail H&B Trail. TxDOT 
allocated $2,136,492 in federal funding for construction with a total 
local commitment from the City of Belton of $597,448, but was 
reduced by $200,000 based on local contributions. 

▪ The City selected KPA on February 28, 2017 to provide engineering 
services for the project. 

▪ A fiber line was discovered along the BNSF railroad, which resulted in 
an approved realignment (01/23/18) of the trail to along University, 
Crusader, and then Sparta to Tiger Drive. 

▪ KPA and Staff have worked diligently to redesign the project to meet 
TxDOT’s deadline to bid the project by the end of September. 



KPA finished the design and Staff secured the ROW by 
August 2018. 

Project was bid on September 28, 2018.

Contractor Bid Amount
Barsh Company, Waco $1,682,584.10
TTG Utilities, Gatesville $1,726,000.00
James Construction Group, Belton $1,783,983.00
Smith Contracting, Austin $2,022,513.50
Holy Contractors, Hewitt $2,152,449.86
Prota Construction, Austin $2,175,275.20

After documentation was reviewed, Staff and Project 
Engineer determined Barsh Company of Waco, which 
submitted the low bid, has the capability and experience to 
successfully perform the requirements of the Chisholm Trail 
Hike and Bike Trail Phase II Project. 



Fiscal Impact
▪ The entire contract for the project is $2,472,579.

▪ The local share is $566,100. 

▪ Funding for the project is $334,123 from the City in FY2016, 
$100,000 from the Leigh Family, and $100,000 pledge from 
UMHB for a total of $534,123. 

▪ City Staff will work to identify cost savings or additional funding 
as the project progresses in order to address the gap ($31,977) 
between the local cost share and current funding. 



What’s Next
1. Nov 13, 2018 – Bid Award

2. Nov 2018 – TxDOT approval, execute contracts

3. Dec 2018 – Preconstruction Conference

4. Jan 2019 – Construction Notice to Proceed 

5. Early 2020 – Trail Opens



Recommendation
Authorize the City Manager to execute a contract in the amount of 
$1,682,584.10 with Barsh Company for construction of the 
Chisholm Trail Hike and Bike Phase II Project, and any change 
orders associated with the contract, not to exceed the amount 
authorized under State law.



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 1 of 2   
 

Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #11 
     
Consider authorizing BEDC Executive Director to execute a contract for the sale of 1.0 acre 
in the Belton Business Park to Birdcreek Holdings, LLC. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Belton Economic Development Corporation – Cynthia Hernandez, Executive Director 
 
Summary Information 
 
BEDC has received an offer from Birdcreek Holdings, LLC to purchase one acre on Arbor 
Park Drive in the Belton Business Park. The company is proposing to develop a 6,000-sf. 
office building to be utilized for law offices and mediation. The investment for the land and 
building is estimated at $700,000, and nine employees will be relocated to Belton. However, 
given that this is an expansion, employment is expected to increase.    
 
As per the contract, Birdcreek Holdings, LLC is offering $152,460 for the land with a 90-day 
Engineering Development Period. The subject property is part of a 3.04-acre tract and will 
need to be subdivided to accommodate their request. This will require some coordination on 
utilities and shared access easements to ensure the remaining property is marketable.  
 
Prior to the expiration of the Engineering Development Period, the contract provides for a 
one-year Option Period at $10,000. Should the buyer opt for the Option Period, an 
extension may be granted for a second one-year Option Period, also at a fee of $10,000. 
Payments will be credited to the purchase of the property at closing. The two options will 
allow the buyer to utilize this purchase in a 1031 transaction. 
 
The replat will be handled by the purchaser with the associated fees to be deducted from 
the sales price at closing. Additionally, BEDC will be responsible for the Title Insurance and 
half of the escrow or closing fees. A broker was not utilized for this project.  
 
In a meeting of the BEDC Board of Directors on November 6, 2018, the Board voted to 
approve the contract as presented. Staff seeks the City Council’s consideration in ratifying 
the contract as approved by the Board of Directors.  
 
Fiscal Impact 
 
The sales price is $152,460. Fees and services associated with the sale of property are 
estimated at $9,400. BEDC will net $143,060 from the real-estate transaction.    
 
Amount: $143,060 



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 2 of 2   
 

Budgeted:    Yes    No 
 
If not budgeted:   Budget Transfer     Contingency     Amendment Needed     
Capital Project Funds 
 
Funding Source(s): BEDC Fund Balance  
   
Recommendation 
 
The BEDC Board and staff recommend Belton City Council approval of this contract for the 
sale of 1.0 acre in the Belton Business Park to Birdcreek Holdings, LLC. 
 
Attachments 
 
Contract 
Site Exhibit 
Plat 



1 | P a g e  
 

REAL ESTATE SALES CONTRACT 

This REAL ESTATE SALES CONTRACT (“Contract”) is entered into by Belton Economic 
Development Corporation, a Texas 4A Corporation (“Seller”), and Birdcreek Holdings, LLC, a 
Limited Liability Corporation, or its assigns as permitted under this Contract. 

RECITALS 

Seller wants to sell to Purchaser and Purchaser wants to purchase from Seller all of Seller’s 
right, title, and interest in and to the real property described below and any improvements on it. 

AGREEMENT 

In consideration of these recitals, the mutual covenants, agreements, and obligations stated 
below, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are 
acknowledged, Seller and Purchaser agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1  
SALE AND PURCHASE 

1.1. Property. Subject to the terms and conditions below, Purchaser agrees to 
purchase from Seller, and Seller agrees to sell to Purchaser, the following (collectively, 
referred to herein as the “Property”): 

(a) Real Property. The real property containing approximately 1.00 acres located in 
Bell County, Texas, and generally described in the attached Exhibit A, together with (1) all 
buildings, structures, fixtures, and improvements situated on, in, or under the real property 
(“Improvements”), and (2) all of Seller’s right, title, and interest in and to the appurtenances 
to the real property, including but not limited to all right, title, and interest of Seller in and to 
adjacent roads, rights-of-way, alleys, drainage facilities, easements, and utility facilities and 
strips and gores between the described real property and abutting properties (collectively, 
“Real Property”). 

(b) Personal Property. All of Seller’s right, title, and interest in any personal 
property owned by Seller as of the contract date or on the Closing Date, and other items of 
tangible and intangible personal property and replacements, affixed or attached to, situated 
on, or used exclusively in connection with the Real Property (collectively, “Personal 
Property”). The Personal Property excludes the following items: none. 

(c) Leases. All of Seller’s right, title, and interest in any leases, licenses, occupancy 
agreements, or other agreements demising space in and providing for the use or occupancy of 
the Real Property (collectively, “Leases”), and the security deposits for the Leases.  

(d) Service Contracts. To the extent assignable by Seller to Purchaser, all of Seller’s 
right, title, and interest in and to any service or maintenance contracts for the provision of 
labor, services, materials, or supplies relating to the ownership, maintenance, and operation 
of the Real Property and Personal Property are expressly assumed by Purchaser under this 



2 | P a g e  
 

Contract (each a “Service Contract,” and collectively, “Service Contracts”).  

(e) Licenses and Permits. To the extent assignable by Seller to Purchaser, all of 
Seller’s right, title, and interest in and to (1) licenses, permits, certificates of occupancy, or 
similar documents relating to the Real Property and Personal Property, and (2) plans, 
drawings, specifications, surveys, engineering reports, and other technical descriptions of the 
Real Property (collectively, “Licenses and Permits”). 

ARTICLE 2  
PURCHASE PRICE 

2.1. Purchase Price. The purchase price for the Property (“Purchase Price”) is One 
Hundred Fifty-Two Thousand Four Hundred and Sixty Thousand Dollars ($152,460.00), 
payable in cash or other immediately available funds at Closing. 

ARTICLE 3  
Engineering and Development Study Option 

3.1. Engineering & Development Study Option. Within five (5) business days 
after this Contract is fully executed by Seller and Purchaser, and approved by the Belton 
Economic Development Corporation (“BEDC”) and the City of Belton, Seller will deposit 
with Monteith Abstract and Title (“Title Company”), having an address of 106 S. East Street, 
a fully executed original counterpart of this Contract. In addition, within five (5) business 
days after an original executed counterpart of this Contract is deposited with the Title 
Company, Purchaser will deposit with the Title Company One Thousand ($1,000.00) dollars 
to ensure prompt observance of this Contract by Purchaser (the “Engineering Study 
Deposit”). The Engineering Study Deposit will apply to the Purchase Price at Closing or be 
otherwise disbursed by the Title Company under this Contract. Upon tendering the 
Engineering Study Deposit, Purchaser shall have 90-days to complete its engineering/design 
and development study (the “Engineering Development Period”). 

ARTICLE 4 
OPTIONS TO PURCHASE 

 
4.1 Upon or before the expiration of the ninety (90) day Engineering & Development 

Study Option period, Purchaser may either notify Seller that it will not purchase the Property 
or Purchaser may deposit with the Title Company an additional $10,000 payment (the 
“Option Payment”). Upon making an additional $10,000.00 option payment, Purchaser shall 
have a one (1) year option to purchase the Property (the “Option Period”). Purchaser may 
extend the one (1) year option upon payment of an additional $10,000. If Purchaser elects to 
exercise one or more of these one (1) year extensions, then Purchaser agrees to pay Seller 
$10,000.00 (an “Extension Payment”) on or before the anniversary of the initial Option 
Payment. All Option Payments will be credited to the purchase of the Property at closing. 

 
4.2  Replat. The description for the Real Property that is the subject of this Sales Contract 

(the “Subject Property”) is generally described by Exhibit A, which exhibit is attached hereto 
and incorporated herein. Purchaser agrees to survey and “Replat” the subject property during 



3 | P a g e  
 

the first Option Period. Purchaser and Seller agree that the Replat shall identify the tract of 
Property that is the subject of this Sales Contract. All expenses incurred by Purchaser to 
Replat the Property shall be documented by receipts and shall either be credited to the 
purchase of the Property at closing or deducted from a subsequent $10,000.00 Extension 
Payment. In the event that this transaction does not close, the Replat shall become the 
Seller’s property for its use. Upon completion of the proposed Replat, Purchaser shall submit 
the same to Seller for review and approval. Seller’s review shall include the entire Replat and 
approval of the legal description of the Real Property that is the subject of this Sales 
Contract. In the event that Purchaser and Seller cannot agree upon the boundaries and size of 
the Subject Property, then Purchaser may, at its sole discretion, terminate this Contract and 
Seller shall return the Engineering Study Deposit and all Option Payments to Purchaser. If 
Purchaser terminates this Contract under this Section, and the parties will have no further 
obligations under this Contract except for those that expressly survive its termination. 

 
 

ARTICLE 5 
TITLE STATUS 

 
5.1. Title Commitment and Survey. Following the approval and recording of the 

Replat in the official public records, Seller will deliver or have delivered to Purchaser within 
Twenty (20) days the following: (a) a Texas standard form (Form T-7) Commitment for Title 
Insurance (“Commitment”), together with legible copies of all instruments and documents 
referred to as exceptions to title to the Property (“Exception Documents”), in the amount of 
the Purchase Price, in favor of Purchaser, under which the Title Company agrees, subject to 
the Commitment, to issue to Purchaser at Closing a Texas standard form (Form T-1) Owner 
Policy of Title Insurance insuring fee simple, indefeasible title to the Property in Purchaser 
(“Owner Policy”); and (b) an on-the-ground, ASCM/ALTA survey of the Property 
(“Survey”), dated no earlier than the Effective Date. Seller may utilize the Replat and 
associated survey for the Subject Property. 

5.2. Review of Title Documents. The review of the Commitment, the Exception 
Documents, and the Survey (collectively “Title Documents”) will be governed by the 
following terms: 

(a) Purchaser Obligations. Purchaser will have until five (5) business days after 
Purchaser’s receipt of the last of the Title Documents (“Title/Survey Review Period”) to 
provide to Seller written objections to the status of title to the Property. If written objections 
have not been received by Seller before the Title/Survey Review Period expires, Purchaser 
will be deemed to have conclusively accepted and approved the status of title to the Property 
as shown by the Title Documents, and all the matters shown in the Title Documents will be 
Permitted Exceptions (as defined in Section 4.3). 

(b) Seller Response. If Purchaser does timely deliver written objections to Seller, 
Seller will within five (5) business days after receiving them (“Response Period”) notify 
Purchaser of which objections Seller will cure before Closing (“Cure Notice”), Seller having 
no obligation to cure any of Purchaser’s title objections. If Seller does not agree or is unable 



4 | P a g e  
 

to timely cure all of Purchaser’s title objections, Purchaser may either (1) waive the title 
objections in writing and purchase the Property despite them, in which event the title 
objections will be deemed Permitted Exceptions, or (2) terminate this Contract by giving 
written notice to Seller within three (3) business days after the Response Period, in which 
event all deposits and payments will be returned to Purchaser on demand, and neither Seller 
nor Purchaser will have any further obligations under this Contract except for those that 
expressly survive its termination. 

6.3. Conveyance by Deed. Seller will deliver to Purchaser at Closing a General 
Warranty Deed conveying fee simple title to the Real Property to Purchaser, subject to the 
exceptions to title contained in the Title Documents approved or waived by Purchaser under 
Section 4.2 (“Permitted Exceptions”). 

ARTICLE 7  
INSPECTION AND EXAMINATION 

7.1. Inspection Period. The Purchaser’s inspection and examination of the Property 
will be governed by the following terms: 

(a) Time Period. Purchaser will have a period of 90 days after the Effective Date 
(“Inspection Period”), which shall mirror and run concurrent with the Engineering 
Development Period, during which time Purchaser, or its authorized agents or 
representatives, will be entitled to enter on the Property for the purpose of inspecting, 
examining, and conducting tests on the Property. 

(b) Termination. If Purchaser, in its sole discretion, is dissatisfied with the results of 
the inspection of the Property, regardless of whether any tests or inspections were actually 
made by Purchaser, Purchaser may, by written notice delivered to Seller before the 
Inspection Period expires, terminate this Contract, in which event all deposits and payments 
shall be returned to Purchaser on demand, and neither Seller nor Purchaser will have any 
further obligations under this Contract except for those that expressly survive its termination. 
If Purchaser does not terminate this Contract by delivery of written notice to Seller before the 
Inspection Period expires, Purchaser will no longer have a right of termination under this 
Section, but will have a continuing right to enter on the Property. 

(c) Indemnification. Except for the mere discovery of existing defects or conditions 
affecting the Property, Purchaser will release, indemnify, and hold Seller harmless from and 
against any liabilities, claims, demands, or actions incident to, resulting from, or in any way 
arising from any such test, report, inspection, or analysis or any entry by or on behalf of 
Purchaser onto the Property. The terms of this Section will expressly survive the termination 
or Closing of this Contract. 

7.2. Environmental Survey. The inspection and examination of the Property 
relative to the environmental condition of the Property will be governed by the following 
terms: 

(a) Examination Authority. Purchaser, at its expense, will have the right to conduct 



5 | P a g e  
 

Phase I and, if necessary, Phase II environmental surveys (collectively, “Environmental 
Survey”) of the Property, which must be completed before the Inspection Period expires. If 
an Environmental Survey is conducted, Purchaser will deliver to Seller a written report 
stating the findings obtained in the Environmental Survey. 

(b) Remediation/Termination. If, as a result of the Environmental Survey, or by any 
other means, Purchaser or Seller becomes aware of the existence of toxic or hazardous 
wastes (including asbestos) or other environmental contamination on or within the Property, 
Purchaser will have the right to immediately terminate this Contract before the Inspection 
Period expires. If Purchaser terminates this Contract under this Section, all deposits and 
payments shall be returned to Purchaser and the parties will have no further obligations under 
this Contract except for those that expressly survive its termination. 

7.3. Document Inspection. To facilitate Purchaser’s inspection of the Property, 
Seller will provide to Purchaser, within ten (10) days after the Effective Date, but only to the 
extent within Seller’s actual possession, copies of all reports, tests (including all engineering 
investigations, tests, and environmental studies), and surveys made with respect to the 
Property within five (5) years before the Effective Date. Additionally, Seller will provide any 
further information in its actual possession relating to the Property that may be reasonably 
requested in writing by Purchaser. Purchaser acknowledges that any information of any type 
that Purchaser has received or may receive from Seller or its agents is furnished to Purchaser 
as a courtesy only and on the express condition that Purchaser will make an independent 
verification of the accuracy of the information, and all information is being furnished without 
any representation or warranty by Seller about its truth, accuracy, or completeness.  

7.4. Service Contracts. Purchaser and Seller agree that Purchaser will not assume 
any property management or leasing commission agreements affecting the Property at 
Closing. Before the Inspection Period expires, Purchaser may deliver written notice to Seller 
(“Service Contracts Notice”) specifying any Service Contracts for which Purchaser wants to 
have Seller deliver notices of termination at Closing (each a “Terminated Contract,” and 
collectively, “Terminated Contracts”), provided that (a) the effective date of the termination 
after Closing will be subject to the express terms of the Terminated Contracts, (b) if any 
Service Contract cannot by its terms be terminated, it will be assumed by Purchaser and not 
be a Terminated Contract, and (c) to the extent that any Terminated Contract requires 
payment of a fee or penalty for cancellation, Purchaser will be solely responsible for the 
payment of any cancellation fees or penalties. If Purchaser fails to deliver the Service 
Contracts Notice before the Inspection Period expires, there will be no Terminated Contracts 
and Purchaser will assume all Service Contracts at Closing. 

ARTICLE 8  
CLOSING 

8.1. Closing Date. The date of closing (“Closing Date”) will be, and the event of 
closing (“Closing”) will occur, on the date mutually agreed upon by Purchaser and Seller, 
which shall occur either prior to or during an Option Period. The Closing will take place in 
the offices of a Bell County title company at a time agreed to by Seller and Purchaser. Seller 
covenants to close the Contract and transfer the deed to Purchaser in a manner and at a time 



6 | P a g e  
 

that permits Purchaser to structure its tax obligations in accord with Section 1031 of the 
Internal Revenue Code. Purchaser shall notify Seller of the deadline for the Closing Date.  

8.2. Closing Costs. At Closing, Seller will pay (a) any costs related to the issuance 
of the Commitment, any inspection fees charged by the Title Company in connection with 
the issuance of the Owner Policy, and the base premium for the Owner Policy, (b) the cost of 
satisfying any liens not deemed Permitted Exceptions, (c) Seller’s legal fees, (d) one-half 
(1/2) of any escrow or closing fee charged by the Title Company and the cost of any tax 
certificates, municipal and utility lien certificates, and any other Title Company charges, and 
(e) all other items normally paid by sellers in real estate transactions in Bell County, Texas. 
Purchaser will pay (a) the cost of Purchaser’s due-diligence inspection, (b) the cost to modify 
the areas-and-boundaries exception in the Owner Policy to read “shortages in area” only (if 
requested by Purchaser), (c) the cost for any extended coverages or endorsements to the 
Owner Policy required by Purchaser and any lender of Purchaser, (d) Purchaser’s legal fees, 
(e) one-half (1/2) of any escrow or closing fee charged by the Title Company, and (f) all 
other items normally paid by purchasers in real estate transactions in Bell County, Texas.  

8.3. Prorations. Title to the Property on the day of Closing will belong to Purchaser, 
and all prorations to be made as of Closing will be made as of 12:01 a.m., Central Time, on 
the Closing Date. For each proration below, the portion applicable to periods beginning as of 
Closing will be credited or charged to Purchaser and the portion applicable to periods ending 
as of Closing will be credited or charged to Seller. 

(a) Taxes and Assessments. General real estate taxes and assessments imposed by 
governmental authority and any assessments imposed by private covenant constituting a lien 
or charge on the Property for the current calendar year or other current tax period 
(collectively, “Taxes”) not yet due and payable will be prorated. If Closing occurs before 
Seller receives the tax bill for the calendar year or other applicable tax period in which 
Closing occurs, Purchaser and Seller will prorate Taxes for that calendar year or other 
applicable tax period based on the most recent ascertainable assessed values and tax rates. 

(b) Collected Rent. All collected rent and other collected income (and any 
applicable state or local tax on rent) under the Leases in effect on the Closing Date will be 
prorated. Seller will be charged with any rent and other income collected by Seller before 
Closing but applicable to any period of time after Closing. Uncollected rent and other income 
will not be prorated at Closing. Purchaser will apply rent and other income from tenants that 
are collected after Closing first to the obligations then due to Purchaser for its period of 
ownership and to reasonable costs of collection, remitting any balance to Seller. Any prepaid 
rents for the period following the Closing Date will be paid over by Seller to Purchaser. 
Purchaser will make reasonable efforts, without suit, to collect any rents applicable to the 
period before Closing. 

(c) Operating Costs. If Seller, as landlord under the Leases, is currently collecting 
from tenants additional rent to cover Taxes, insurance, utilities, common-area maintenance, 
and other operating costs and expenses (collectively, “Operating Costs”) incurred by Seller in 
connection with the ownership, operation, maintenance, and management of the Property, at 
Closing Purchaser will receive a credit equal to the amount by which payments made by 



7 | P a g e  
 

tenants for Operating Costs exceed the amount actually and properly paid by Seller during 
the same period for Operating Costs. Operating Costs that are not paid by tenants directly or 
reimbursed under the Leases will be prorated. 

(d) Leasing Costs. Seller agrees to pay or discharge at or before Closing all leasing 
commissions, costs for tenant improvements, legal fees, and other costs and expenses 
(collectively, “Leasing Costs”) that are, as of the Closing Date, due for Leases in force on the 
Effective Date. However, Seller will have no obligation to pay, and Purchaser will assume 
the obligation to pay, all leasing commissions payable under the Leases for any option to 
renew or option to expand that has not been exercised before the Effective Date. As of 
Closing, Purchaser will assume Seller’s obligations for Leasing Costs (1) that are, as of the 
Closing Date, not yet due for Leases in force on the Effective Date, and (2) that are incurred 
for Leases and Lease renewals and extensions executed after the Effective Date. If, as of the 
Closing Date, Seller has paid any Leasing Costs for which Purchaser is responsible under this 
Section, Seller will be credited with an amount equal to those Leasing Costs. 

(e) Fees and Charges Under Service Contracts. Fees and charges under the Service 
Contracts assumed by Purchaser at Closing will be prorated, except as otherwise provided in 
Section 5.4.  

(f) Deposits. The amount of security deposits paid under the Leases and not applied 
by Seller will be credited to Purchaser against the Purchase Price on the Closing Date. 
Purchaser will assume at Closing the obligation to return security deposits to tenants under 
the Leases, to the extent that the security deposits are credited to Purchaser at Closing. Seller 
will not apply any security deposits to past-due rents or any other tenant default after the 
Effective Date of this Contract. 

(g) Utility Bills and Deposits. Water, electric, telephone, and other utility and fuel 
charges will be prorated on the basis of the last ascertainable bills (and prorated again on 
receipt of the actual bills or invoices) unless final meter readings and final invoices can be 
obtained before Closing. If possible, Seller will have utility meters read no more than one (1) 
day before the Closing Date. Purchaser will be responsible for making any deposits required 
with utility companies. 

(h) Final Adjustment After Closing. If final prorations cannot be made at Closing 
for any item being prorated under this Section, including Taxes, then Purchaser and Seller 
agree to allocate those items on a fair and equitable basis as soon as invoices or bills are 
available, with final adjustment to be made as soon as reasonably possible after Closing, to 
the effect that income and expenses are received and paid by the parties on an accrual basis 
for their period of ownership. Payments for the final adjustment will be due within thirty (30) 
days after receiving written notice. Seller, at its expense, and on three (3) business days’ 
written notice to Purchaser, will have reasonable access to, and the right to inspect and audit, 
Purchaser’s books to confirm the final prorations. 

(i) Survival. The terms and provisions of this Section will survive the Closing. 

 



8 | P a g e  
 

8.4. Seller’s Obligations at Closing. At Closing, Seller will deliver, or have 
delivered in accordance with local custom and practice, to the Title Company the documents 
in (a)-(h) below, each of which will be duly executed and, if appropriate, acknowledged, 
together with any other necessary or appropriate items or instruments: 

(a) Deed. A General Warranty Deed conveying fee simple title to the Real Property 
to Purchaser, subject to the exceptions to title contained in the Title Documents approved or 
waived by Purchaser under Section 4.2. 

(b) Bill of Sale. A bill of sale conveying all of Seller’s right, title, and interest in the 
Personal Property to Purchaser free and clear of all restrictions, conditions, easements, liens, 
and other encumbrances, except the Permitted Exceptions. 

(c) Assignment and Assumption of Leases. An assignment and assumption of 
leases assigning to Purchaser all of Seller’s interest in the Leases and the security deposits, 
which will provide for Purchaser to assume all of the obligations under the Leases that may 
arise after the Closing Date. 

(d) General Assignment. A general assignment assigning to Purchaser all of Seller’s 
interest in the Service Contracts (if any) being assumed by Purchaser and the Licenses and 
Permits, which will provide for the Purchaser to assume all of the obligations under those 
Service Contracts and the Licenses and Permits after the Closing Date. 

(e) Notice Letter. A letter to each tenant under a lease dated as of the Closing Date, 
evidencing the assumption by Purchaser of the landlord’s duties and obligations under the 
Lease accruing on or after the Closing Date and setting forth the exact amount of any security 
deposit that has been received by Purchaser from Seller. Immediately after the Closing, the 
Title Company will deliver each letter to Purchaser, and Purchaser will deliver each letter to 
the applicable tenant. 

(f) Nonforeign Affidavit. An affidavit required under Internal Revenue Code 
Section 1445 stating, under penalty of perjury, that neither Seller nor any other party so 
swearing is a foreign person within the meaning of Section 1445. 

(g) Evidence of Authority. Any documents reasonably requested by the Title 
Company or required by this Contract to confirm that this transaction and the parties 
executing the documents are fully authorized and empowered to act. 

(h) Owner Policy. Seller will cause the Title Company to issue to Purchaser the 
Owner Policy, containing no exception to title other than (1) the Permitted Exceptions and 
(2) the standard printed exceptions in Schedule B to the Commitment, and the survey 
exception will be amended to read “shortages in area” only, the premium for the amendment 
(and any other modifications or endorsements to the Owner Policy) will be paid by 
Purchaser, and the tax exception will refer to taxes for the year of Closing and later years, 
and later assessments for earlier years due to change in land usage or ownership. 

 



9 | P a g e  
 

8.5. Purchaser’s Obligations at Closing. At Closing, Purchaser will deliver, or 
have delivered in accordance with local custom and practice, to the Title Company the 
following:  

(a) Cash Funds. The cash funds for the Purchase Price (as defined in Section 2.1). 

(b) Closing Documents. Counterparts of the documents referred to in Sections 
6.4(c)-(e), each of which will be duly executed by Purchaser and, if appropriate, 
acknowledged, together with any other necessary or appropriate items or instruments. 

(c) Evidence of Authority. Any documents reasonably requested by the Title 
Company or required by this Contract to confirm that this transaction and the parties 
executing the documents are fully authorized and empowered to act. 

8.6. Delivery of Possession. Possession of the Property will be delivered to 
Purchaser at Closing, after completion of funding, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions. 

ARTICLE 9  
REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, AND COVENANTS 

9.1. Seller’s Representations, Warranties, and Covenants. Seller represents, 
warrants, and covenants to Purchaser the following: 

(a) Authority. Seller has been duly organized and is in good standing under the 
laws of the state of its organization. Seller has the legal right and authority to enter into this 
Contract and to transfer all of the Property under this Contract. The person signing this 
Contract on Seller's behalf is authorized to do so. 

 (b) Condemnation; Legal Action. To Seller’s actual knowledge, there is no pending 
or threatened condemnation or similar proceeding affecting the Property or pending public 
improvements, liens, or special assessments in, about, or outside the Property that will affect 
the Property or access to it, nor any legal action of any kind affecting the Property that will 
affect Purchaser, nor is any such legal action presently contemplated. 

(c) Governmental Requirements. To Seller’s actual knowledge, Seller has complied 
with all applicable laws, ordinances, regulations, statutes, rules, and restrictions pertaining to 
and affecting the Property, and Seller’s performance of this Contract will not result in any 
breach of, constitute any default under, or result in imposition of any lien or encumbrance on 
the Property under any agreement or other instrument to which Seller is a party or by which 
Seller or the Property might be bound. 

(d) Continued Operation. Seller will operate and manage the Property in 
substantially the same manner it has been operated and managed before the Effective Date. 
Seller will maintain the physical condition of the Property in the same or better condition as 
it presently exists up to the Closing Date, except for reasonable wear and tear and casualty 
damage. 



10 | P a g e  
 

(e) Environmental. Seller has no actual knowledge of and has not received any 
written notice about any violation of Environmental Laws related to the Property or the 
presence or release of Hazardous Materials on or from the Property or any adjacent property. 
Neither Seller nor, to Seller’s actual knowledge, any other person or entity has ever (1) used, 
generated, processed, stored, disposed of, released, or discharged any Hazardous Materials 
on, under, or about the Property, or (2) transported Hazardous Materials to, from, or across 
the Property except as reflected in any environmental report, studies, or written disclosure 
actually delivered by Seller to Purchaser. To Seller’s actual knowledge, the Property is in 
compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws. To Seller’s actual knowledge, there are 
no orders, judgment, claims, suits, or proceedings concerning or affecting the Property 
relating to any Environmental Law. Seller has not received any written notice of any 
threatened or pending suit or proceeding concerning the Property relating to any 
Environmental Law. The term “Environmental Laws” includes the Resource Conservation 
and Recovery Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability 
Act, and other federal laws governing the environment, pollution, or hazardous materials in 
effect on the Effective Date of this Contract, together with their implementing regulations 
and guidelines as of the Effective Date of this Contract, and all state, regional, county, 
municipal, and other local laws, regulations, and ordinances that are similar to the federal 
laws stated above or that purport to regulate the environment, pollution, or hazardous 
materials. The term “Hazardous Materials” includes any substance, material waste, pollutant, 
or contaminant regulated, listed, or defined as hazardous or toxic under any Environmental 
Law. To Seller’s actual knowledge, the Property has not been used as a landfill or as a dump 
for garbage or refuse. 

(f) Leases. True, correct, and complete copies of the Leases, including all 
amendments and related documents, have been delivered or made available to Purchaser; the 
Leases are in full force and effect, neither the landlord nor tenant is in default, and no events 
have occurred that, with notice or the passage of time or both, would constitute a default; and 
the Leases have not been modified nor have any concessions been made with respect to them 
unless expressly stated in them. 

(g) Terrorist Organizations Lists. Neither Seller nor, to Seller's actual knowledge, 
any of its respective partners, members, shareholders, owners, employees, officers, directors, 
representatives, or agents is or will become a person or entity with whom U.S. persons or 
entities are restricted from doing business under regulations of the Office of Foreign Asset 
Control of the Department of the Treasury (including those named on the OFAC’s Specially 
Designated and Blocked Persons List) or under any statute, executive order (including the 
September 24, 2001, Executive Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions with 
Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support Terrorism), or other governmental 
action. 

(h) Pending Actions. To Seller’s actual knowledge, Seller has not received written 
notice of any action, lawsuit, arbitration, unsatisfied order or judgment, government 
investigation, or proceeding pending against Seller that, if adversely determined, could 
materially interfere with the transaction contemplated by this Contract.  



11 | P a g e  
 

(i) Service Contracts. True, correct, and complete copies of the Service Contracts, 
including all amendments and related documents, have been delivered or made available to 
Purchaser. 

9.2. Purchaser’s Representations, Warranties, and Covenants. Purchaser 
represents, warrants, and covenants to Seller the following: 

(a) Authority. Purchaser has been duly organized and is in good standing under the 
laws of the state of its organization. Purchaser has the legal right and authority to enter into 
this Contract and to make the transactions under this Contract. The execution, delivery, and 
performance of this Contract have been duly authorized, and no other action by Purchaser is 
required for the valid and binding execution, delivery, and performance of this Contract, 
except as otherwise expressly provided. There is no agreement to which Purchaser is a party 
or, to Purchaser’s knowledge, binding on Purchaser that is in conflict with this Contract. 

(a) Authority. Purchaser has the legal right and authority to enter into this Contract 
and to make the transactions under this Contract.  

(b) Terrorist Organizations Lists. Neither Purchaser nor, to Purchaser's actual 
knowledge, any of its respective partners, members, shareholders, owners, employees, 
officers, directors, representatives, or agents is or will become a person or entity with whom 
U.S. persons or entities are restricted from doing business under regulations of the Office of 
Foreign Asset Control of the Department of the Treasury (including those named on the 
OFAC’s Specially Designated and Blocked Persons List) or under any statute, executive 
order (including the September 24, 2001, Executive Order Blocking Property and Prohibiting 
Transactions with Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit, or Support Terrorism), or 
other governmental action.  

9.3. As Is. Once the Inspection Period has expired, Purchaser will have examined 
and inspected the Property, reviewed all instruments, records, and documents that Purchaser 
deems appropriate or advisable to review in connection with this transaction, and, at its own 
cost and expense, made its own independent investigation into the Property and all other 
aspects of this transaction. 

PURCHASER AGREES THAT, EXCEPT FOR SELLER’S REPRESENTATIONS AND 
WARRANTIES IN SECTION 9.1, SELLER HAS NOT MADE, DOES NOT MAKE, AND 
SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES ABOUT 
THE COMPLIANCE OR NONCOMPLIANCE OF SELLER OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR 
ENTITY OR THE PROPERTY OR ITS OPERATION WITH (A) ALL CODES, LAWS, 
ORDINANCES, REGULATIONS, AGREEMENTS, LICENSES, PERMITS, APPROVALS, 
AND APPLICATIONS OF OR WITH ANY GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORITIES 
ASSERTING JURISDICTION OVER THE PROPERTY, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED 
TO THOSE RELATING TO ZONING, LAND USE, BUILDING, PUBLIC WORKS, 
PARKING, FIRE AND POLICE ACCESS, HANDICAP ACCESS, LIFE SAFETY, 
SUBDIVISION AND SUBDIVISION SALES, AND HAZARDOUS AND TOXIC 
SUBSTANCES, MATERIALS, CONDITIONS, OR WASTE; AND (B) ALL 
AGREEMENTS, COVENANTS, CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS (PUBLIC OR 



12 | P a g e  
 

PRIVATE), DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENTS, BUILDING RULES, AND OTHER 
INSTRUMENTS AND DOCUMENTS GOVERNING THE USE, DEVELOPMENT, AND 
OPERATION OF THE PROPERTY. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN SECTION 
7.1(d), PURCHASER AGREES THAT THE PROPERTY WILL BE SOLD AND 
CONVEYED TO (AND ACCEPTED BY) PURCHASER AT CLOSING IN ITS 
CONDITION AT THE TIME, AS IS, WHERE IS, WITH ALL FAULTS, AND 
WITHOUT ANY WRITTEN OR ORAL REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, 
EXPRESS, IMPLIED, OR ARISING BY OPERATION OF LAW, OTHER THAN THE 
GENERAL WARRANTY OF TITLE IN THE DEED. FURTHER, PURCHASER 
REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS TO SELLER THAT PURCHASER HAS KNOWLEDGE 
AND EXPERTISE IN FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS MATTERS THAT ENABLE IT TO 
EVALUATE THE MERITS AND RISKS OF THE TRANSACTION CONTEMPLATED BY 
THIS CONTRACT AND THAT PURCHASER IS NOT IN A SIGNIFICANTLY 
DISPARATE BARGAINING POSITION. PURCHASER AGREES THAT THE 
PROVISIONS IN THIS SECTION WILL SURVIVE THE CLOSING. PURCHASER WILL 
RELY SOLELY ON ITS OWN INVESTIGATION OF THE PROPERTY AND NOT ON 
ANY INFORMATION PROVIDED BY SELLER, ITS AGENTS, OR ITS CONTRACTORS. 
SELLER WILL NOT BE LIABLE OR BOUND IN ANY WAY BY ANY ORAL OR 
WRITTEN STATEMENTS, REPRESENTATIONS, OR INFORMATION ABOUT THE 
PROPERTY OR ITS OPERATION FURNISHED BY ANY PARTY PURPORTING TO ACT 
ON SELLER'S BEHALF. 

ARTICLE 10  
DEFAULT 

10.1. Purchaser’s Default. If Purchaser fails to purchase the Property in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of this Contract, or otherwise defaults in the performance of its 
obligations under this Contract, for any reason other than Seller’s default, Seller will be paid 
and will retain the Engineering Study Deposit and the Option Payment(s) as liquidated 
damages as Seller’s sole remedy for Purchaser’s default (because actual damages would be 
difficult to determine, vague, and speculative in nature). Seller waives all of its other rights or 
remedies, at law or in equity, for breach of this Contract by Purchaser, including but not 
limited to a suit to enforce specific performance and a suit for damages (except that Seller 
may bring a legal action to enforce the indemnification by Purchaser provided for in Sections 
5.1(c), 10.1, and 12.15).  

10.2. Seller’s Default. If Seller defaults in the performance of its obligations under 
this Contract, for any reason other than Purchaser’s default or as otherwise permitted, 
Purchaser may, as its only remedies and at its option, (a) purchase the Property despite the 
default under the remaining terms and provisions of this Contract, in which event the default 
will be deemed waived (and Purchaser will be deemed to have expressly waived all remedies 
for breach of any representation or warranty of Seller known to Purchaser at the time of 
Closing), (b) terminate this Contract, in which event Purchaser will be entitled to return of 
the Engineering Study Deposit and all Option Payment(s), and neither Seller nor Purchaser 
will have any further obligation except for those that expressly survive the termination of this 
Contract, or (c) file a suit to enforce specific performance and recover economic damages.  



13 | P a g e  
 

ARTICLE 11  
CASUALTY LOSS 

11.1. Risk of Loss. Risk of loss due to casualty up to and including the Closing Date 
will be borne by Seller (as between Seller and Purchaser), except to the extent of any loss or 
damage caused solely by the acts of Purchaser or its agents, employees, contractors, or 
invitees. The provisions of this Section will govern despite any contrary provisions of Texas 
Property Code Section 5.007.  

11.2. Condemnation. By written notice to Purchaser given within three (3) days after 
Seller receives written notice of proceedings in eminent domain affecting the Property that 
are contemplated, threatened, or instituted by anybody having the power of eminent domain, 
Purchaser may (a) terminate this Contract and the Earnest Money Deposit will be 
immediately returned to Purchaser without the necessity of obtaining any consent or release 
by Seller, or (b) proceed under this Contract, in which event Seller will, at Closing, assign to 
Purchaser its entire right, title, and interest in and to any condemnation award. The 
provisions of this Section will govern despite any contrary provisions of Texas Property 
Code Section 5.007.  

ARTICLE 12  
BROKER FEES AND COMMISSIONS 

12.1. Not Applicable.  

ARTICLE 13 
NOTICE 

13.1. Notice Designation. All notices required or permitted under this Contract must be in 
writing and be served on the parties at the addresses listed below. Unless otherwise provided, 
all notices must be given or served (a) by overnight delivery using a nationally recognized 
overnight courier, (b) by personal delivery, (c) by fax transmission during normal business 
hours with a confirmation copy delivered by another method permitted under this Section 
other than e-mail, or (d) by e-mail sent to the e-mail address listed below with a confirmation 
copy delivered by another method permitted under this Section other than fax transmission. 
Notice given by all permitted forms other than fax transmission or e-mail will be effective on 
the earlier of actual delivery to the address of the addressee or refusal of receipt by the 
addressee (even if the addressee refuses delivery). Notice given by fax transmission or e-mail 
will be effective on the transmission or attempted transmission of a fax to the phone number 
designated as the recipient’s fax number during normal business hours or an e-mail to the e-
mail address designated as the recipient’s e-mail address during normal business hours. A 
party’s address, fax number, or e-mail address may be changed by written notice to the other 
party, but a notice of change is not effective until actual receipt of the notice. Copies of 
notices are for informational purposes only, and a failure to give or receive copies of any 
notice will not be deemed a failure to give notice. Notices given by a party's attorney will be 
deemed given by that party. The notice addresses of the parties are specified below until 
further notice: 



14 | P a g e  
 

Seller: 
 

Belton Economic Development Corporation 
P.O. Box 1388 
2180 North Main Street, Suite C1 
Belton, TX 76513 
(254) 770-2279 facsimile 
chernandez@beltonedc.org  

 

Purchaser: 
 
Birdcreek Holdings, LLC 
2110 Birdcreek Drive 
Temple, TX 76502 
(254) 773-9175 facsimile 
brian@txconstructionlaw.com 
paul@txconstructionlaw.com  
calvin@txconstructionlaw.com    
 

ARTICLE 14  
MISCELLANEOUS 

14.1. Binding Agreement. This Contract and all of its terms, provisions, and covenants 
will apply to, be binding on, and inure to the benefit of the parties and their respective 
successors and assigns. 

14.2. Headings. The headings used in this Contract are for convenience only and are not 
intended in any way to limit or expand the terms and provisions of this Contract. 

14.3. Time of Essence. Time is of the essence in this Contract. 

14.4. Governing Law. This Contract will be governed by and interpreted under the laws 
of the State of Texas, regardless of any conflict-of-law rules. This Contract will be 
specifically performable in Bell County, Texas. 

14.5. Entire Agreement. This Contract contains the entire agreement of the parties. All 
understandings, discussions, and agreements previously made between the parties, written or 
oral, are superseded by this Contract, and neither party is relying on any warranty, statement, 
or representation not contained in this Contract. 

14.6. Amendment. This Contract may not be altered, changed, or amended except by a 
written agreement signed by all parties. 

14.7. Counterparts. This Contract may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of 
which will be deemed an original and all of which together will constitute one agreement. 

mailto:chernandez@beltonedc.org
mailto:brian@txconstructionlaw.com
mailto:paul@txconstructionlaw.com
mailto:calvin@txconstructionlaw.com


15 | P a g e  
 

14.8. Right to Repurchase. Purchaser agrees to commence construction within twelve 
(12) months after the date fee simple ownership of the Property is transferred from Seller to 
Purchaser (the “Closing”). If Purchaser fails to commence construction within twelve (12) 
months after the Closing, Seller shall have the option to repurchase the Property from 
Purchaser for the “Purchase Price”. In the event a repurchase occurs, the terms and 
conditions of this Real Estate Sales Contract shall apply with respect to the allocation of 
closing costs and expenses with Birdcreek Holdings, LLC as “Seller” and Belton Economic 
Development Corporation as “Purchaser”. 

14.8.1. City Council Approval.  Seller and Purchaser agree that acceptance and approval 
of this Real Estate Sales Contract by the Belton Economic Development Corporation is 
contingent upon approval by vote of the Belton City Council. 

14.9. Date Computation. If any significant date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal or 
state holiday, the date will be deemed moved to the next business day that is not a Saturday, 
Sunday, or federal or state holiday. The term “business day” means a day that is not a 
Saturday, Sunday, or federal or state holiday. 

14.10. Assignment. Purchaser will not assign, transfer, or convey its rights or obligations 
under this Contract or with respect to the Property without Seller’s written consent. However, 
Purchaser may assign its rights under this Contract without Seller’s consent to an Affiliate (as 
defined below), as long as (a) Purchaser gives Seller written notice of the assignment at least 
3 days before the Closing Date, and the notice includes the name of the assignee and the 
assignee’s signature block, and (b) the Affiliate assumes, jointly and severally, in writing 
Purchaser’s obligations under this Contract and agrees in writing to be subject to all of the 
terms and conditions in this Contract. The term “Affiliate” means (a) an entity that directly or 
indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Purchaser, (b) any 
fund or entity sponsored by Purchaser, or (c) an entity at least a majority of whose economic 
interest is owned by Purchaser; the term “control” means the power to direct the management 
of the entity through voting rights, ownership, or contractual obligations.  

14.11. Effective Date. This Contract (or a counterpart) must be executed by Seller and a 
fully executed copy (or executed counterparts) deposited with the Title Company no later 
than December 31, 2018, or this Contract will become null and void. The date that the Title 
Company acknowledges receipt of the fully executed copy will be the Effective Date of this 
Contract.  

14.12. Construction. This Contract is the result of negotiations between the parties, 
neither of whom has acted under any duress or compulsion, whether legal, economic, or 
otherwise. Accordingly, the terms and provisions of this Contract will be construed in 
accordance with their usual and customary meanings. Seller and Purchaser waive the 
application of any rule of law that would otherwise apply in the construction of this Contract 
that ambiguous or conflicting terms or provisions should be construed against the party who 
(or whose attorney) prepared the executed Contract or any earlier draft of it.  

14.13. Exchange. Either Purchaser or Seller may elect to participate in a tax-deferred 
exchange under the Internal Revenue Code. If a party elects to participate, the other party 



16 | P a g e  
 

will reasonably cooperate with the election; however, the cooperating party will have no 
obligation to incur any cost or liability or to take title to any real property (other than 
Purchaser’s acquisition of the Property under this Contract), and the Closing will not be 
conditioned on or unreasonably delayed by any exchange. A party electing to participate will 
provide all documents requested from the other party at least three (3) days before the 
Closing and will indemnify and hold the cooperating party harmless from any claims, 
liabilities, or damages arising from the cooperation, and the indemnity obligation will 
expressly survive the termination or Closing of this Contract. 

14.14. Attorney Fees. If it becomes necessary for either Seller or Purchaser to employ 
legal counsel or to bring an action at law or other proceeding to enforce any of the terms, 
covenants, or conditions of this Contract, the prevailing party in any action or proceeding 
will be entitled to recover its costs and expenses incurred, including its reasonable attorney 
fees, from the other party. The term “prevailing party” means the party that has succeeded on 
the majority of significant issues in the litigation and achieved a benefit with respect to the 
claims at issue, taken as a whole, whether or not damages are actually awarded to that party.  

14.15. Survival Clause. The provisions of Section 8.3 and Article 9 of this Contract will 
survive the Closing for a period of six months and remain in full force and effect between the 
parties for that period.  

14.16. Disclosures. 

(a) Notices from Broker. Purchaser should not rely on any oral representations 
about the Property from any source. Broker is not qualified to render Property inspections, 
surveys, engineering studies, environmental assessments, or inspections to determine 
compliance with zoning ordinances, governmental regulations, or other laws. Purchaser 
should seek experts to render the services. The selection of inspectors and repairmen is the 
responsibility of Purchaser and not Broker. 

 (b) Chapter 49 Notice. If the Property is situated in a utility or other statutorily 
created district providing water, sewer, drainage, or flood-control facilities and services, 
Texas Water Code Section 49.452 requires Seller to deliver and Purchaser to sign the 
statutory notice relating to the tax rate, bonded indebtedness, or standby fee of the district 
before final execution of this Contract. 

(c) Rollback Taxes Notice. The following disclosure is made for the purpose of 
complying with Texas Property Code Section 5.010 and is not intended to and does not alter 
or affect the rights and obligations of Purchaser and Seller: 

Notice Regarding Possible Liability for Additional Taxes 

If for the current ad valorem tax year the taxable value of the land that is the subject of 
this Contract is determined by a special appraisal method that allows for the appraisal of 
the Property at less than its market value, the person to whom the Property is transferred 
may not be allowed to qualify the Property for that special appraisal in a subsequent tax 
year and the Property may then be appraised at its full market value. In addition, the 



17 | P a g e  
 

transfer of the Property or a subsequent change in the use of the Property may result in 
the imposition of an additional tax plus interest as a penalty for the transfer or the 
change in use of the Property. The taxable value of the Property and the applicable 
method of appraisal for the current tax year is public information and may be obtained 
from the tax appraisal district established for the county in which the Property is located. 

(d) Pipelines. The following disclosure is made for the purpose of complying with 
Texas Property Code Section 5.013 and is not intended to and does not alter the rights and 
obligations of Purchaser and Seller: 

Notice Regarding Pipelines 

Pursuant to Texas Property Code Section 5.013, the Seller of unimproved property to 
be used for residential purposes is required to disclose to Purchaser the location of a 
transportation pipeline, including a pipeline for the transportation of natural gas, natural 
gas liquids, synthetic gas, liquefied petroleum gas, petroleum or a petroleum product, or 
a hazardous substance. 

Accordingly, Purchaser is hereby notified that, to the best of Seller’s belief and 
knowledge as of the date of this Contract, the following transportation pipelines are 
located on the Property: 

(1) Pipeline Easement granted to _______________ by virtue of the instrument 
recorded {in Volume __, Page __/as Document No. __/under Film Code 
No. __} in the {Real Property/Official/Deed} Records of {__________} 
County, Texas. 

(2) Pipeline Easement granted to _______________ by virtue of the instrument 
recorded {in Volume __, Page __/as Document No. __/under Film Code 
No. __} in the {Real Property/Official/Deed} Records of {__________} 
County, Texas. 

(e) Certificated Water and Sewer Service. The following disclosure is made for the 
purpose of complying with Texas Water Code Section 13.257 and is not intended to and does 
not alter the rights and obligations of Purchaser and Seller: 

Notice Regarding Certificated Water and Sewer Service 

The Property that you are about to purchase may be located in a certificated water or 
sewer service area, which is authorized by law to provide water or sewer service to the 
properties in the certificated area. If your Property is located in a certificated area there 
may be special costs or charges that you will be required to pay before you can receive 
water or sewer service. There may be a period required to construct lines or other 
facilities necessary to provide water or sewer service to your Property. You are advised to 
determine if the Property is in a certificated area and contact the utility service provider 
to determine the cost that you will be required to pay and the period, if any, that is 
required to provide water or sewer service to your Property. 



18 | P a g e  
 

The undersigned Purchaser hereby acknowledges receipt of the foregoing notice at or 
before the execution of a binding contract for the purchase of the Property. 

EXECUTED on this the _______ day of 2018. 

SELLER: 
Belton Economic Development Corporation 
a Texas 4A Corporation  

 
By: 

 

 
Name: 

 

 
Title: 

 

 

EXECUTED on this the _____ day of 2018. 

PURCHASER: 
Birdcreek Holdings, LLC  

a Texas Limited Liability Corporation  

By: 

 Paul H. Sanderford 
Shareholder 

 Brian K. Carroll 
Shareholder 

 Calvin L. Cowan 
Shareholder 

 
ACCEPTANCE BY TITLE COMPANY 

The undersigned title company, Monteith Abstract and Title Co., referred to in this Contract 
as the Title Company, acknowledges receipt of a fully executed copy (or executed 
counterparts) of the Contract, and accepts the obligations of the Title Company as stated in the 
Contract. 

TITLE COMPANY: 
Monteith Abstract and Title Company 
a Texas Corporation  

 
By: 

 

 
Name: 

 

 
Title: 

 

 



R
evisions

DRAWING STATUS

1

N
EW

B
U

ILD
IN

G

SANDERFORD
& CARROLL

NEW SITE DEVELOPMENT

CONCEPTUAL SITE PLAN

FU
TU

R
E

D
EV

ELO
PM

EN
T

CCowan
Rounded Exhibit Stamp





LOT

LOT 2A

LOT

',.g.'
t

tOT SUMMARY
tOT 28 SUMMARY

TOTALLOTzBAC 1.89 AC

LOT 28 FLOODPLAIN 0.65 /AC

DEVELOPABLEAREA 1.23AC

r---_-_---------$
BELTON EGONOMIG DEVELOPMEITIT GORPORATION

60' 120',

09.25.201sBffiffiC
25 AC PUD MIXEDUSE/LOT 2 LAND PLANNING ANALYSIS

drfi |

\



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 1 of 2   
 

 
Staff Report – City Council Agenda Item 
 
 
Agenda Item #12 
 
Receive a presentation and discuss a policy establishing provisions for joint vehicular 
access easements (JVAE). 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Cheryl Maxwell, Director of Planning 
 
Summary Information 
 
The City Council asked staff to develop a policy to ensure joint vehicular access 
easements are provided when properties are undergoing platting or development.  The 
purpose of such an easement is to maximize public safety and ease traffic congestion; 
minimize the number of curb cuts; and facilitate circulation between adjacent non-
residential properties along major streets. 
 
Staff reviewed related policies of various cities to include Killeen, Harker Heights, 
Round Rock, Georgetown, Bryan, and College Station. The attached policy includes 
provisions used by some of these cities. The policy consists of three parts: 1) Policy 
Administration; 2) Provision of Joint Access Easements; and 3) Joint Access Easement 
Improvements. The policy includes the following key points: 
 

• Policy would only apply to non-residentially zoned or developing properties 
fronting on state highways, arterial streets, and major collector streets. 

• JVAE may be required to share curb cuts between owners to promote public 
safety. 

• JVAE should be shown on the site plan and/or subdivision plat with a minimum 
width of 25’. 

• The property owners are responsible for constructing and maintaining the access 
easement and a paved surface is required—asphalt or concrete. 

• These requirements may be considered for waiver due to unusual topography, 
site conditions, or existing development. 

 
Staff discussed this item with the Planning & Zoning Commission at their July 17th and 
August 21st meetings (excerpts from meeting minutes attached). Staff would like 
feedback from the City Council regarding the proposed policy, including Administration, 
Provision of JVAE, and Improvements.     
 
 
 



City Council Agenda Item 
November 13, 2018 

Page 2 of 2   
 

Recommendation 
 
The Planning & Zoning Commission met on August 21, 2018 and unanimously 
recommended approval of the JVAE Policy. Staff concurs with their recommendation for 
establishment of a working policy. 
 
Attachments 
 
JVAE Proposed Policy 
P&ZC Minutes Excerpt (July 17, 2018 & August 21, 2018) 



Joint Vehicular Access Easement (JVAE) Policy Proposal 

August 2018 

 

Policy Administration: 

1) This policy will be administered by the Planning Director in relation to property development review.   
 

2) Decisions of the Planning Director regarding any provision of this policy may be appealed to the City 
Manager. 

Provision of Joint Access Easements 

1) A Joint Vehicular Access Easements (JVAE) may be required to facilitate the sharing of curb cuts between 
adjacent owners of non-residential property fronting on state highways and major public arterial and 
public collector streets.  A JVAE may be required for various reasons to promote public safety including, 
but not limited to, the following: 1) to facilitate circulation between adjacent properties; 2) to reduce 
turning movements and resulting traffic congestion on roadways; and 3) to provide cross access to state 
highways and major public arterial and public collector streets. 
 

2) When required, a JVAE shall be provided and clearly identified on any site plan and/or subdivision plat 
submitted to the City. 
 

3) A connection to any existing access easement shall be provided on adjacent properties when they are 
developed. 
 

4) Each JVAE shall be a minimum width of twenty-five (25) feet   
 

5) The requirement for a JVAE may be considered for waiver in those cases where unusual topography, site 
conditions, or existing development would render such an easement of no practical benefit to adjacent 
properties.   
 

Joint Access Easement Improvements    
 

1) A JVAE shall be paved in asphalt, concrete, or other impervious surface, and stubbed at the property 
boundary in conjunction with site development.  

 
2) If adjacent properties are undeveloped, the paving of the JVAE may occur at a later date in conjunction 

with development when the need of the easement is confirmed.   
 

3) Construction and maintenance of a JVAE shall be the responsibility of the property owners.  

 
 
 
 
Rev 8/13/18 



1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, July 17, 2018 
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, David Jarratt, Ty Hendrick, 
Stephanie O’Banion, Dave Covington, Michael Pressley, and DJ Fuller. Commission member Lewis 
Simms was not present. The following staff members were present: Director of Planning Cheryl 
Maxwell, Planner Kelly Trietsch, City Manager Sam Listi, IT Ryan Brown and Planning Clerk Laura 
Livingston.  Commission member Rae Schmuck arrived at 7:22pm. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance – Ms. O’Banion led all present. 
Invocation – Mr. Covington gave the Invocation. 
 
1. Call To Order. 

 
Chair Baggerly called the meeting to order at 5:30 P.M.  
 

2. Minutes from the previous Planning and Zoning Commission meeting. 
 
Ms. O’Banion made a motion to approve the minutes from June 19, 2018, seconded by Mr. Jarratt. 
The motion passed unanimously with 7 ayes, 0 nays.   
 

3. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance amending the following sections of the Zoning 
Ordinance: 

a) Section 42, Definitions by adding a definition for powersport vehicle, all-terrain vehicle, 
personal watercraft, snowmobile, and powersport vehicle sales and service. 

b) Section 21, Retail Zoning District and Section 22, Central Business District to allow 
powersport vehicle sales and service as a permitted use.    

    
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit A).  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing.  
 
Jim Foster, 702 East Mary Jane Drive, Killeen stated he is in support of this change.  
 
Chair Baggerly closed the public hearing.  
 
The commission recommended making some revisions to include changing the definition for 
powersport vehicles to include vehicles such as golf carts and mules, removing reference to 
handlebars and removing reference to the rider mounting the machine. The commission 
recommended allowing powersport vehicle sales in the retail zoning district with a SUP.   
 
This item was tabled. Staff will take the commission recommendations and come back with a revised 
amendment.  
 

4. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance amending the following sections of the Zoning 
Ordinance: 



2 
 

c) Section 23, Commercial Highway Zoning District to allow a truck stop and truck 
parking lot as permitted uses.    

 
       Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit B).  
 
      Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. With no one requesting to speak, Chair Baggerly closed              
       the public hearing. 
 

Mr. Covington made a motion to approve amending Section 23, Commercial Highway Zoning 
District to allow a truck stop and truck parking lot as permitted uses. Ms. O’Banion seconded the 
motion. The item was approved with 7 ayes, 0 nays.  
 

5. Z-18-11 Hold a public hearing and consider a zoning change from Agricultural to 
Commercial Highway District on a 3.283 acre tract of land located at 3555 W. Hwy 190 Service 
Road, on the southeast corner of I-14/US 190 and FM 1670, west of I-35.  
 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit C).  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. With no one requesting to speak, Chair Baggerly closed              

      the public hearing. 
     
     Mr. Hendrick made a motion to approve Z-18-11 for a zoning change from Agricultural to 
     Commercial Highway District on a 3.283 acre tract of land located at 3555 W. Hwy 190 Service  
     Road, on the southeast corner of I-14/US 190 and FM 1670, west of I-35. Mr. Jarratt seconded the  
     motion. The item was approved with 7 ayes, 0 nays.  
 
6. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance amending the Thoroughfare Plan Map for 

possible relocation of Mesquite Road east of I-35. 
 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit D).  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing.  
 
BJ Truitt, 3500 South IH 35, Belton stated that he has concerns with the amount of property  
Cedar Crest Hospital will have to provide for ROW and utility easements. They have recently 
conveyed a utility easement to the city, and now they will have to dedicate more property. They need 
more information on how this proposed alignment will affect their property.   
 
Ben Burnett, 15 North Main Street, Temple, stated he was there on behalf of ERIS LLC and Ellen 
Breaux Morris. They are not opposed to this but they are not ready to go forward either. There needs 
to be more information   There is not enough information at this time to determine what kind of 
economic impact this is going to have on ERIS LLC to the south and Shanklin Crossing 
Development.  
 
Ellen Breaux Morris, P O Box 769, Belton, stated she is the owner of the 168-acre tract and she has 
many concerns about moving the location of the proposed Mesquite Road. These would include the 
number and location of accesses to the development, the speed limit on the proposed road, the saving 
of numerous large heritage trees and the future of the proposed hike and bike trail for the 
development. Ms. Morris feels she needs more time to review the two proposals before being able 
to make a reasonable decision.   



3 
 

 
Sumil Lavani, 679 Bridge Hill Cove, Austin, stated he is the developer for the future RV park, he 
would like to see the proposed Mesquite Road relocated to the south. He feels that it would fit better 
with the Shanklin Crossing project at Shanklin Road. They are opposed to the current location, but 
support the relocation southward (Option 2). If the road is to remain in the current location it will be 
not allow them to move forward with the RV Park. Timing is a concern as they are still under contact 
and they really cannot move forward until a decision is made.  
 
Faye Butler, 3320 Elm Grove Road, asked if any of this will affect her property. Ms. Maxwell said 
we are not proposing any changes for the section that is close to her (near Elm Grove Road), and the 
alignment of Mesquite Road is just conceptual at this time and will be finalized when development 
occurs in that area.   
 
Chair Baggerly closed the public hearing.  
 
The commission discussed the two options and asked that staff meet with the property owners to 
address their concerns and come back to the next Planning and Zoning meeting on August 21 with a 
recommendation.   
 
This item was tabled to the August 21, 2018 Planning and Zoning meeting.  
 
 

7. P-18-10 Consider a final plat of Hollow Ranch Subdivision, comprising 34.535 acres on the 
east side of FM 1670, south of West Amity Road in the ETJ of the City of Belton. 
 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit E).  Ms. Maxwell informed the P&ZC members that 
staff was working with the applicant regarding placement of driveways with access to Hollow Drive 
for the two commercial lots.  The proposal is to locate each driveway 125’ from the west property 
line.  Ms. Maxwell also informed the members that staff’s recommendation for the sidewalk along 
FM 1670 was being withdrawn, due to maintenance issues.  Neither Bell County nor TxDOT are 
willing to maintain the sidewalk in the ETJ, and the city cannot justify spending tax dollars generated 
by residents inside the city limits on sidewalks located outside the city limits where the residents do 
not pay city taxes. 
 
Mr. Simms made a motion to approve P-18-10 final plat of Hollow Ranch Subdivision, as 
recommended by staff, with the recommendation to approve the variance to the sidewalk 
requirement. Mr. Hendrick seconded the motion.  
 
Mr. Covington asked for clarification regarding the two commercial lots and access to FM 1670 and 
Hollow Drive.  Ms. Maxwell confirmed the south commercial lot will have access onto FM 1670 
and Hollow Drive, and the north commercial lot will have access onto Hollow Drive but not FM 
1670. Mr. Covington asked if the Hollow Drive access will be at least 125’ from FM 1670. Ms. 
Maxwell said yes and that places the drives about midway of the lots. This length will allow stacking 
for an estimated 6-7 cars. Mr. Covington stated he feels good with the proposed 125’ distance and 
can support the motion.   
 
Chair Baggerly asked for a vote. The item was approved with 7 ayes, 0 nays.  
 

8. Discussion Item:  Discuss a draft policy establishing provisions for joint access easements and 
determine process for consideration. 



4 
 

 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit F).  
 
Mr. Hendrick asked if this came about because of the car wash item and the neighboring property. 
Ms. Maxwell said it has been an issue of concern for a while, at least since she has been here since 
January 2018.  
 
7:22pm Ms. Schmuck arrived at the meeting. 
 
Mr.Listi stated that P&ZC and City Council have dealt with this item a number of times, primarily 
with redeveloping properties along FM 439. When you have an existing residence in the middle of a 
block, what’s going to happen on the other two sides regarding access to FM 439? TXDOT is trying 
to limit driveways. Sometimes those properties have circle drives or two accesses. We want the 
arterial street to continue to function well. If there are too many driveways, that defeats the purpose 
of the road as an arterial road. We have worked with TXDOT to try to encourage shared drives. We 
have not always done a good job of remembering this as the properties are redeveloped. So, you have 
examples that don’t reflect this access easement. The Art Place is an example where the property 
was platted and the drainage ditch prevented the installation of the driveway, and the paving was 
expensive, so an exception was granted.  It’s a progressive pattern, but you have to do it consistently 
in order for it to be effective. We would like this policy in our tool box to make sure we always ask 
the question about an access easement. We may not always get it, but primarily along state roads, 
arterial, and major collectors it is really important. We try to do that to encourage shared driveways 
and keep the road functional. The council has asked for a policy, so that is what staff has tried to 
draft.  
 
Mr. Baggerly thanked staff for their work.  
 
Mr. Covington asked would the policy be limited to properties with certain zonings or properties 
with certain locations, or along certain classified streets. Ms. Maxwell said the proposal is for non-
residentially zoned or developing properties along state highways, arterial streets, major collector 
streets. 
 
Mr. Jarratt said, based on discussions during his brief time on the commission, it would be good to 
have a policy just so we have the conversation every single time something comes up, whether it gets 
action or not.  
 
Mr. Fuller stated on Loop 121 there is an Exxon gas station. This property would be similar to what 
we are discussing, where each property connects at the property line. The gas station would have 
their access at that point limiting the number of driveways on the highway. Then, when the next 
property came in later to develop, would there be any issues with connectivity of the initial access 
point? Later on, would there be any disputes, about tying into the access next door? Ms. Maxwell 
said in a perfect world with a policy in place there would not be any disputes and we would try to 
work it out.     
 
Mr. Covington said, for example the area along Lake Road from Today’s Car Wash down to Bushes 
Chicken, it looks like a joint vehicular access easement would run naturally along the front of those 
driveways, but it wouldn’t necessarily have to be across the front; it could be across the back, 
depending on who develops first. Is that correct? Ms. Maxwell said yes.  
 
Mr. Baggerly said this is often a bone of contention. This policy can only help and he supports it.  



5 
 

 
Ms. Maxwell said please feel free to submit any comments to her as soon as possible as this item is 
proposed to the on the agenda for August 21, 2018 for final action.  

 
With no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:30 p.m. 
 

 
                  Chair, Planning and Zoning Commission 



 
                                                                                                                           Exhibit F  

P&ZC Agenda Item 
July 17, 2018 

Page 1 of 1   
 

 
Staff Report – Planning & Zoning Item 
 
 
Agenda Item 
 
Discussion:  Discuss a draft policy establishing provisions for joint vehicular access 
easements (JVAE) and determine process for consideration. 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Cheryl Maxwell, Director of Planning 
 
Summary Information 
 
The City Council asked staff to develop a policy to ensure joint vehicular access 
easements are provided when properties are undergoing platting or development.  The 
purpose of such an easement is to maximize public safety and ease traffic congestion; 
minimize the number of curb cuts; and facilitate circulation between adjacent non-
residential properties along major streets. 
 
Staff reviewed related policies of various cities to include Killeen, Harker Heights, 
Round Rock, Georgetown, Bryan, and College Station.  The attached draft includes 
provisions used by some of these cities.  The draft policy includes the following key 
points: 
 

• Policy would only apply to non-residentially zoned or developing properties 
fronting on state highways, arterial streets, and major collector streets. 

• JVAE will be clearly shown on the site plan and/or subdivision plat, and will have 
a minimum width of 25’. 

• The property owners are responsible for constructing and maintaining the access 
easement and a paved surface is required—asphalt or concrete. 

• These requirements may be considered for waiver due to unusual topography, 
site conditions, or existing development. 

 
Staff would like feedback from the Planning Commission regarding the proposed policy 
and input on a process for consideration. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Discuss proposed policy and provide feedback to staff. 
 
Attachments 
 
Draft Policy 



1 
 

Minutes of the  
Planning and Zoning Commission (P&ZC) 

City of Belton 
333 Water Street 

Tuesday, August 21, 2018 
 

The Planning and Zoning Commission met at 5:30 P.M. in the Wright Room at the Harris Community 
Center. The following members were present: Chair Brett Baggerly, David Jarratt, Stephanie O’Banion, 
Lewis Simms, Dave Covington, Michael Pressley, and DJ Fuller. The following staff members were 
present: Director of Planning Cheryl Maxwell, Planner Kelly Trietsch, City Manager Sam Listi, IT Chris 
Brown, IT Ryan Brown and Planning Clerk Laura Livingston.  Mr. Hendrick arrived at 5:33pm. 
 
Pledge of Allegiance – Ms. O’Banion led all present. 
Invocation – Mr. Jarratt gave the Invocation. 
 
1. Call To Order. 

 
Chair Baggerly called the meeting to order at 5:30 P.M.  
 

2. Minutes from the previous Planning and Zoning Commission meeting. 
 
Ms. O’Banion made a motion to approve the minutes from July 17, 2018, seconded by Mr. 
Covington. The motion passed unanimously with 7 ayes, 0 nays.   
 

3. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance amending the following sections of the 
Zoning Ordinance: 

a) Section 42, Definitions by adding a definition for off-road vehicle, all-terrain vehicle, 
personal watercraft, snowmobile, and off-road vehicle sales and service; and amending 
definition of motorcycle. 

b) Section 21, Retail Zoning District and Section 22, Central Business District to allow the 
following as uses permitted by right or by Specific Use Permit: off-road vehicle sales 
and service; motorcycle sales and service.    

    
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit A).  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. With no one requesting to speak, Chair Baggerly closed              

      the public hearing. 
 
Mr. Covington stated it looked good to him. He thinks last month’s concerns have been addressed.  
 
Mr. Fuller stated that under the category of mule or off road, that some of those can be registered 
and made street legal. Would this cause it to not be able to be sold?   
 
Ms. Maxwell said the intent is for off road. The commission has the ability to craft the proposal 
however they wish. The initial feeling is if a person can get a license and drive it, that’s different 
from off road vehicles. Staff is open to the commission for thoughts on that as well.  
 
Mr. Simms said he is in favor of moving forward as is and propose an amendment if that becomes a 
problem. He feels off road vehicle is sufficient for the purpose of this document.  
 



2 
 

Ms. O’Banion asked if there would be an opportunity for a variance should that ever come up?  Ms. 
Maxell answered there would be a process for that.  
 
Mr. Simms made a motion to approve the proposed code amendments as recommended by staff as 
follows: 
 
a) Amending Section 42, Definitions by adding a definition for off-road vehicle, all-terrain vehicle, 

personal watercraft, snowmobile, and off-road vehicle sales and service; and amending the 
definition of motorcycle. 

b) Amending Section 21, Retail Zoning District to allow off-road vehicle sales and service as 
permitted uses; this would also allow sales/service in the CH, C-1 and C-2 zoning districts. 

c) Amending Section 22, Central Business District to allow off-road vehicle service as a permitted 
use, and allow off-road vehicle sales with a SUP.  

 
Mr. Hendrick seconded the motion. The item was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  
 

4. Hold a public hearing and consider an ordinance amending the Thoroughfare Plan Map for 
possible relocation of Mesquite Road east of I-35. 

 
       Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit B).  
 
      Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing. With no one requesting to speak, Chair Baggerly closed              
      the public hearing. 
 

Chair Baggerly asked Ms. Morris if she felt confident about Option 2 (Mesquite Road relocated 
between Cedar Crest property and Ms. Morris’ property—proposed Shanklin Crossing). Ms. Morris 
answered yes, sir.  
 
Ms. O’Banion stated she felt the biggest obstacle last time was just having time to visit with the 
property owners, to ensure this was something they could work with as well.  
 
Ms. O’Banion made a motion to approve an ordinance amending the Thoroughfare Plan Map for 
relocation of Mesquite Road east of I-35 as proposed in Option 2. Mr. Jarratt seconded the motion. 
The item was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  
 

5. P-18-12 Consider a final plat of Lot 1 Cedar Crest Subdivision, comprising 28.124 acres, 
located on the east side of I-35, south of Grove Road. 
 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit C).  
 
Chair Baggerly opened the public hearing.  
 
Mr. Covington asked the owner if they could tell the commission a little about the cottage being 
built. Mr. BJ Truitt, 3500 South IH 35, Belton, stated they are adding one more cottage. Presently 
they have 4 units/cottages. They are experiencing growth and adding one more unit. It will be a 36-
bed unit that will be placed on the northern end of the property. It will be the same type of 
construction as the existing buildings.  
 
Mr. Covington stated he sees nothing wrong with the plat but he is inclined to support the variance 
of the $69,000.00. He does not feel like this is the same type of development that we are seeing in 



3 
 

other areas. The property is already set as to what it is going to be, and they are just adding a building 
to it.  
 
Chair Baggerly stated he feels it is a fair variance.  
 
Mr. Covington stated he is always hesitant to approve a variance because that means the taxpayers 
are picking up the burden down the road but this just seems like a different type of development.  
 
Mr. Simms asked why the variance for this type of development is different vs a Pro Star Rental type 
of development. Mr. Covington responded because it’s more commercial in nature than this. This is 
a residential cottage and seems different.  
 
Mr. Jarratt stated staff is agreeing to the variance request on the Mesquite side. He questioned if the 
logic of disapproving this for Capital Way is because sidewalks are already under construction on 
the north side of the Cedar Crest property; that money from another property owner is in escrow 
already based on a previous decision. Ms. Maxwell stated that’s part of it.  Capital Way is different 
from Mesquite Road in that it has been on the plans for a long time and is something the public 
should be aware of; this is a roadway we anticipate going through. Some properties are in the process 
of being developed and others are planned for development.  This is something that will be needed 
and will be built. Sometimes you have roadways that could be years out. You don’t see that much 
activity and even then, it might make sense to escrow the funds.  In this case, staff feels like it is 
going to happen, that’s why we support requiring the perimeter streets improvements. Mesquite Road 
relocation still has to be approved by the city council. 
 
Mr. Jarratt stated he believes that Mr. Covington’s point is that it has be to a sidewalk to somewhere.  
Anyone who travels south of the RV park is not likely to be going anywhere on foot. If development 
proved it is necessary right now, it’s justified; otherwise, it’s a burden on the applicant.  
 
Mr. Covington stated that he agrees that the street is coming relatively soon. If the 28 acres was being 
developed as a whole, with a neighborhood or commercial use, it might be different. We are using 
the term development because it is being platted but it does not seem like a significant development. 
They are just adding a cottage to the back of what is already there. That’s where his hang up is. The 
road is coming, there’s not something to connect the sidewalk to now, and that’s why we have the 
escrow account planned for folks that are in this situation. Pro Star Rental and the RV Park seem 
more like developments that would require roads and sidewalks.  
 
Ms.  O’Banion stated that under the subdivision ordinance, this is why they are needing to ask for a 
variance because the way we see the request it falls under this subdivision ordinance. Is that right? 
Ms. Maxwell answered those requirements come into play when property is being platted and one of 
the requirements is perimeter street improvements.  
 
Ms. O’Banion stated this cottage is for patients who have checked in. It’s not a residence where a 
family is moving in and it’s a normal situation. She tends to agree with Mr. Covington that this 
requirement was probably developed around a single or multi family usage. These are not people 
who have bought a home or are renting. These are people who have checked into a facility and this 
is where they are staying.  
 
Mr. Simms stated we may be getting stuck on the term subdivision. The subdivision ordinance 
doesn’t just require sidewalks. There are perimeter street improvements which are pretty critical. If 
the commission starts approving variances based on the nature of a business, then we are discounting 



4 
 

the actions we have already taken on three other businesses, on the same thoroughfare. It is a part of 
the development of this area which has clearly begun rapidly filling up. We have addressed Pro Star 
Rental and the RV park within the last 12 months. This is part of the nature of doing development in 
this area as Belton grows. He agrees with the variance to Mesquite Road. Obviously, that roadway 
location has not been approved. He does not foresee this as an undue burden on this applicant more 
so than has been placed on any other applicant right here in this area.  
 
Ms. O’Banion does not see this as a subdivision as it is being called. This is a medical facility for 
patients and this is how it has operated for 30-40 years. We are not adding new homes to a residential 
area, where people will come and go, play and walk and connect. What is being called a subdivision 
is not a subdivision under the same definition.  
 
Ms. Maxwell stated whenever you apply for building permit, if the property has not been platted, 
then that triggers a subdivision plat, like you would do for a housing development. When the 
applicant applied for a building permit that triggered the platting process. Ms. Maxwell stated she is 
not sure of the previous situation. There are a lot of structures on the property. She does not know 
the history or why they have not had to plat before now. It has come up this time with the request for 
the building permit.  
 
Mr. Baggerly stated that Mr. Simms made some valid points, that really speak to consistency on how 
we apply these types of plats.  
 
Mr. Simms made a motion to approve P-18-12 the final plat of Lot 1 Cedar Crest Subdivision, with 
disapproval of the variance request to Capital Way sidewalk and street improvements and approval 
of the variance to the perimeter street improvements and sidewalk for Mesquite Road and adherence 
to the city letter to the applicant dated August 17, 2018. Mr. Jarratt seconded the motion.  Mr. 
Covington asked for a hand vote. The motion was approved with 5 ayes, and 3 nays, with Ms. 
O’Banion, Mr. Covington and Mr. Fuller casting the dissenting votes. 
 

6. P-18-13 Consider a final plat of South Wall Estates, comprising 6.749 acres, located on the 
west side of S. Wall Street, generally north of E. Loop 121 and east of IH 35, in the vicinity of 
Colette Court.  

 
Ms. Maxwell present the staff report (Exhibit D). 
 
Mr. Baggerly stated there was lots of discussion the first time this plat was submitted.  
 
Mr. Covington stated the plat looks alright to him.  
 
Mr. Covington made a motion to approve P-18-13 final plat of South Wall Estates. Mr. Hendrick 
seconded the motion. The motion was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  
 

7. P-18-14 Consider a preliminary plat of Royal Heights Addition, Replat No. One, 
comprising 6.293 acres, located on the northwest side of Loop 121, west of its intersection 
with FM 436. 
 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit E).  
 



5 
 

Mr. Baggerly said off street parking was talked about the first time this was presented. Has 
anything changed since the last presentation? Ms. Maxell answered she is not aware of any 
changes. The site plan that was approved is still the same site plan. 
 
Mr. Covington stated there was some discussion about creating some kind of parking lots to serve 
the neighborhood as a whole. He does remember talking about parking as a result of this item. Ms. 
Maxwell stated there will be two parking spaces required for each residential unit but they are also 
adding 28 additional parking spaces through out the complex.    
 
Mr. Jarratt made a motion to approve P-18-14 a preliminary plat of Royal Heights Addition, Replat 
No. One. Mr. Covington seconded the motion. The motion was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  
 

8. P-18-15 Consider a final plat of Belton Business Park Phase Three, 16.985 acres, comprising 
0.056 acres and a replat of Lot 1, Block 1, Amended Plat of DCOB Northeast Addition; Lot 1, 
Block 1, Harvest Technologies Subdivision; and a portion of Block 2, Belton Business Park, 
Phase I; located on the west side of Loop 121 near its intersection with West Avenue D, in the 
Belton Business Park. 

 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit F).  
 
Mr. Jarratt asked what type of trees are the 8 heritage trees that will be removed. Ms. Maxwell 
answered she believes they are primarily live oak trees.  
 
Chair Baggerly stated the shared use path is a great idea. 
 
Mr. Hendrick stated he is not as familiar with this area as some people, and questioned no sidewalks 
along Jones Road and Powell Avenue. Does this area get a lot of foot traffic? Chair Baggerly 
answered it does not, other than office workers walking every day.  
 
Mr. Covington said the business park’s whole design is more for trucks going in and out, than 
pedestrians going in and out. He thinks it looks good.  
 
Chair Baggerly stated he thinks it looks good and the traffic light at Avenue D will be a real benefit 
to the area. He takes that left every day.  
 
Mr. Covington stated he does not take that left that often but he would be glad to have a traffic light 
instead of just praying and punching the gas when he comes out of there.  
 
Mr. Hendrick made a motion to approve P-18-15 a final plat of Belton Business Park Phase Three. 
Mr. Covington seconded the motion. The motion was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  
 
Ms. O’Banion asked if the state is involved with the proposed light at Loop 121 and Avenue D?  
Ms. Maxwell answered that there is coordination with TxDOT. Mr. Mack Parker added the traffic 
signal has already been designed and approved by the State of Texas.   
 
 

9. P-18-16 Consider a final plat of Second Replat of Lot 4, Block 2 of Belton Industrial Park, 
comprising 5.22 acres, being a replat of a portion of Lot 4, Block 2 of Replat of Lot 4, Block 2, 
Belton Industrial Park, located on the west side of Commerce Street, near its intersection 
with Industrial Boulevard.   



6 
 

 
Mr. Covington recused himself from this item.  

 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit G). 
 
Chair Baggerly asked will the shared use path have any negative impact on the drainage? Ms. 
Maxwell answered that public works has reviewed this and feels there is adequate room to place it 
without affecting any of the detention pond and drainage. There is a proposal to place a curb along 
the outer edge to provide some protection for the pedestrian traffic from the roadway. 
 
Ms. O’Banion asked if the KTMPO proposal has been approved?  Ms. Maxwell answered no. We 
are in the project call right now. The application has not been submitted. The deadline is August 
31, 2018. The city council did approve it along with 6-7 other projects at last week’s meeting.  
There is a resolution with the council supporting the projects. Now it is a matter of getting them 
submitted before the deadline. They will go through a scoring process at the MPO. The technical 
advisory committee will score the projects to establish a ranking. When funding becomes available 
they will go through and fund projects. At this point we don’t know where it is going to fall in the 
rank and if it is ranked fairly high, still not sure when funding will be provided.  
 
Ms. O’Banion questioned once we vote on this with the variance, we can’t come back if all that 
falls through? Ms. Maxwell answered no, unless the plat comes before you again.  
 
Mr. Simms made a motion to approve P-18-16 the final plat of Second Replat of Lot 4, Block 2 of 
Belton Industrial Park.  Ms. O’Banion seconded the motion. The motion passed with 7 ayes, 0 
nays. 
 

10. P-18-17 Consider a final plat of Hall Addition, comprising 4.1 acres, located on the east 
side of FM 1670, south of West Amity Road, in Belton’s ETJ. 

 
Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit H). 
 
Chair Baggerly stated there was a previous project in the same area where the P&Z commission 
approved a variance on the sidewalk and city council did not. How close are these two projects? 
Ms. Maxwell answered you may be referring to Hollow Ranch. At the P&Z meeting we withdrew 
the recommendation to require sidewalks because there was no entity to maintain the sidewalks. 
TXDOT or Bell County would not maintain the sidewalks. Staff did not feel it would be 
appropriate to use tax dollars in the ETJ to maintain the sidewalk. If she remembers correctly, the 
P&Z commission went along with staff recommendation to not require the sidewalk and city 
council agreed with that as well. 
 
Mr. Listi stated that city council wanted it determined in advance there was plenty of room to place 
the sidewalk, and the engineer had gone through the process to determine that the available ROW 
provided adequate room. That was reiterated in the plat file with a note. City Council was 
frustrated with it, as was P&ZC. The city council wanted that condition verified so perhaps at some 
point in the future, if a TxDOT project widens FM 1670, or a trail project comes along, that a 
sidewalk could be provided at that point in time. Accommodation can be made for future 
placement of a sidewalk, but there’s no developer obligation to provide it in conjunction with the 
plat.  
 



7 
 

Chair Baggerly stated he does understand the sidewalk to nowhere but he also thinks this area is 
going to continue to develop and at some point, it would be a benefit.  
 
Mr. Simms asked Ms. Maxwell if the city would not be assuming responsibly for maintenance of 
this? Ms. Maxwell answered that is correct.  
 
Mr. Simms stated it’s hard to place a requirement, when the city is not assuming responsibility to 
take care of it once it’s been built. It terms of longevity, he’s not sure how fruitful that would be.  
 
Mr. Hendrick asked if there was a Montessori school nearby? Ms. Maxwell answered that school is 
located close to the intersection of FM 2484.  
 
Mr. Hendrick made a motion to approve P-18-17 a final plat of Hall Addition. Mr. Jarratt seconded 
the motion. The motion passed with 8 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
 

11. Consider a policy establishing provisions for joint access easements 
 

Ms. Maxwell presented the staff report (Exhibit I) 
 
Ms. Maxwell added that this issue came up with some of the recent plats, for instance the car wash 
on Lake Road, which only has access on Commerce Street. There is no access onto Lake Road. An 
access easement was required anticipating some of the other properties developing and wanting to 
limit or reduce the number of access points for traffic that would be exiting onto Lake Road. This 
area is a good example of where some joint access has already been provided between some of the 
properties. It also came up with Pro Star Rental. We were not able to required it with that particular 
property. They provided the easement but were not willing to pave it and we did not have a policy 
in place at that time.  
 
Mr. Jarratt stated the conversation was more about the property owner next to the car wash, than 
the car wash itself, because dumping out onto Commerce Street is not a bad deal. What happens to 
the people who get this imposed on after they get the property?  Ms. Maxwell stated she believes 
the primary purpose of the policy is to ensure that the need is looked at. It may not be appropriate 
to have an access easement in every situation. This will put a policy in place so you can check off 
that it has been looked at and determine if it is necessary or not, to make sure it’s not overlooked. 
 
Mr. Covington stated this policy will change over time the more it’s looked at and more properties 
and plats that are reviewed. You have to start somewhere and this is a great staring point.  
 
Chair Baggerly stated he did not see anything that raised any red flags or concerns. 
 
Mr. Listi stated staff has looked at other cities and tried to figure out something, trying to find a 
good balance of what might be appropriate and trying not to miss this going forward. There have 
been extensive discussions with legal about it and certainly it’s not perfect, and may change over 
time. Originally, staff evaluated bringing this to you as an ordinance, an absolute rule, subject to a 
variance process. We have softened that a bit to address it as a policy as to not be faced with 
variances. If we are not successful in securing an access easement, we will discuss that in the staff 
report that comes to you and explain why. As Ms. Maxwell stated, we will try not to miss it going 
forward. We will evaluate it and if the opportunity presents itself and it makes good sense, we will 
certainly recommend it and try to work with the property owner to secure it. The improvements 



8 
 

issue is an important one too. Do you build to the property line? Does that impose that on the next 
property? There are a lot of issues but we are trying to satisfy the fact that staff looks at it, 
evaluates it every time and try not to miss it going forward, and give you that opportunity to 
recommend it or not, as it goes forward to city council.   
 
Mr. Covington asked with this being a policy and not an ordinance, if someone comes with a plat, 
but does not want a joint access easement, can they just say no? Mr. Listi answered they can take 
issue with that but the commission can still recommend it to city council.  
 
Mr. Hendrick stated with the car wash plat, it was a TxDOT requirement that they could not have 
access onto Lake Road. The joint access is a benefit to them because it’s not the City of Belton 
restricting that access.  
 
Mr. Covington stated where people may take issue with it is when they are the first one on the strip 
to develop, or the second.  
 
Mr. Listi said it is hard to write something perfect for every circumstance, but we need to start and 
have something in place. If it does not hold up, it can be changed or done away with, but it’s a 
starting point. 
 
Chair Baggerly said he agrees with Mr. Listi and that something is better than nothing.  
 
Mr. Simms made a motion to approve the policy establishing provisions for joint access easements. 
Mr. Covington seconded the motion. The motion was approved with 8 ayes, 0 nays.  

 
With no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 6:42 p.m. 
 

 
                  Chair, Planning and Zoning Commission 



 
                                                                                                                              Exhibit I  

P&ZC Agenda Item 
August 21, 2018 

Page 1 of 1   
 

 
Staff Report – Planning & Zoning Item 
 
Agenda Item 
 
Consider a policy establishing provisions for joint vehicular access easements (JVAE). 
 
Originating Department 
 
Planning – Cheryl Maxwell, Director of Planning 
 
Summary Information 
 
The City Council asked staff to develop a policy to ensure the need for joint vehicular 
access easements is evaluated when properties are undergoing platting or 
development.  The purpose of such an access easement is to maximize public safety 
and ease traffic congestion; minimize the number of curb cuts; and facilitate circulation 
between adjacent non-residential properties along major streets. 
 
Staff reviewed related policies of various cities to include Killeen, Harker Heights, 
Round Rock, Georgetown, Bryan, and College Station.  The attached draft includes 
provisions used by some of these cities.  The proposed policy includes the following key 
points: 
 

• Policy would only apply to non-residentially zoned or developing properties 
fronting on state highways, arterial streets, and major collector streets. 

• JVAE will be clearly shown on the site plan and/or subdivision plat, and will have 
a minimum width of 25’. 

• The property owners are responsible for constructing and maintaining the access 
easement and a paved surface is required—asphalt or concrete. 

• These requirements may be considered for waiver due to unusual topography, 
site conditions, or existing development. 

• Policy would be administered by the Planning Director and subject to appeal to 
the City Manager. 

 
This item was discussed at the July 17, 2018 Planning Commission meeting.  Staff has 
not received any additional comments.   
 
Recommendation 
 
Recommend adoption of proposed JVAE policy. 
  
Attachments 
 
Draft JVAE Policy 


	Agenda - 111318
	City Manager's Memo
	#4A - CAFR Award
	#5 - Minutes - 102318
	#6 - Staff Report - Board Appt
	#7 - Staff Report - Traffic Ordinance
	#7 - Attachments

	#8 - Staff Report - Dickson Non Annexation Development Agreements
	#8 - Attachments

	#9 - Staff Report - Change Order #3
	#9 - Attachments

	#10 - Staff Report - H&B Trail
	#10 - Attachments

	#11 - Staff Report - BEDC Sale of Property
	#11 - Attachments

	#12 - Staff Report - Joint Vehicular Access Easements
	#12 - Attachments




